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MIDDLETON CITY COUNCIL  
MARCH 1, 2023 

 
The Middleton City Council Meeting was called to order on March 1, 2023, at 5:32 p.m. by 
Mayor Steve Rule.  
  
Roll Call:  
City Council: Council President Kiser, Council Members Huggins, Murray, and O’Meara were 
present.  
 
Mayor Steve Rule, City Administrator Ms. Crofts, City Attorney Douglas Waterman, Public Works 
Director Mr. VanGilder, and Deputy Clerk Ms. Reynolds were present. 
 
Pledge of Allegiance, Invocation: Jim Taylor 
 
Action Items  

A. Approve Agenda 
 
Motion: Motion by Council President Kiser to approve Agenda posted February 24, 2023. 
Motion seconded by Council Member O’Meara and approved Unanimously. 

 
Action Item: 

1. Consent Agenda (items of routine administrative business) (Action Items) 
a. Consider approving minutes for City Council February 15, 2023, meeting. 
b. Consider ratifying payroll for February 24, 2023, in the amount of $144,053.66. 
c. Consider approving accounts payable through February 17, 2023, in the amount 

of $.128,034.47 
d. Consider approving the FCO for the Rowe Station Project that was approved on 

2/1/2023. 
 
Mayor Rule called items and Council President Kiser asked Council if they had questions 
regarding the accounts payable. None 

 
Motion: Motioned by Council President Kiser to approve Consent Agenda Items 1 a, b, 
c & d.  Motion seconded by Council Member O’Meara and approved unanimously. 

 
2. Swearing in of new police officer Eric Brown. – Mayor Rule 
 
 Mayor Rule administered the Oath of Office to Eric Brown as the newest police officer in 

MPD.  
 

3. Consider a motion to authorize the Mayor to execute the Notice of Award and 
enter into a contract with AME Electric, Inc. for the procurement and installation of 
a backup power generator for the Well 8 site in the amount of $114,300.00. Mr. 
VanGilder 

 
Mayor Rule invited Public Works Director Mr. VanGilder to explain the item. 
 
Motion: Motion by Council President Kiser Consider a motion to authorize the Mayor to 

execute the Notice of Award and enter into a contract with AME Electric, Inc. for the 

procurement and installation of a backup power generator for the Well 8 site in the 



      

 

Middleton City Council Meeting March 1, 2023 Page 2 
 

amount not to exceed $114,300.00. Motion seconded by Council Member O’Meara and 

approved unanimously.  

4. Consider a motion to authorize the Mayor to execute Change Order 1 with Knife 
River Construction for the modification of davit poles as necessary for the 
construction of the Sawtooth Roundabout Project. Mr. VanGilder 

 
Mayor Rule invited Public Works Director Mr. VanGilder to explain the item. He said the 
city has given Knife River a notice to proceed for construction of the roundabout March 
15th. 
 
Motion:  Motion by Council President Kiser to authorize the Mayor to execute Change 
Order 1 with Knife River Construction for the modification of davit poles as necessary for 
the construction of the Sawtooth Roundabout Project.  Motion seconded by Council 
Member Huggins and approved unanimously.   
 

5. Consider a motion to authorize the Mayor to execute Change Order 2 with Knife 
River Construction to work on or adjacent to Tax Parcel 18498000 0 in the 
construction of the Sawtooth Roundabout. Mr. VanGilder 
 
Mayor Rule invited Public Works Director Mr. VanGilder to explain the item. 
 
Motion:  Motion by Council President Kiser to authorize the Mayor to execute Change 
Order 2 with Knife River Construction to work on or adjacent to Tax Parcel 18498000 0 
in the construction of the Sawtooth Roundabout. Motion seconded by Council Member 
O’Meara and approved unanimously. 
 

6. Consider a motion to authorize the Mayor to execute agreements necessary with 
Idaho Power in amounts up to $6,239 for the provision of utility power to the 
Hartley and Sh44 signal.  Mr. VanGilder 
 
Mayor Rule invited Public Works Director Mr. VanGilder to explain the item. 
 
Motion:  Motion by Council President Kiser to authorize the Mayor to execute 
agreements necessary with Idaho Power in an amount not to exceed $6,239 for the 
provision of utility power to the Hartley and Sh44 signal. Motion seconded by Council 
Member O’Meara and approved unanimously. 
 

7. Consider a motion to authorize the Mayor to execute Change Order 7 with La 
Riviere, Inc. in the amount of $2,005.58 for changes related to water system 
necessary for the 30” Hartley Sewer Main Project. Mr. VanGilder 
 
Mayor Rule invited Public Works Director Mr. VanGilder to explain the item and thanked 
Kirby Cook, City Engineer for his work on the project. 
 
Motion:  Motion by Council President Kiser to authorize the Mayor to execute Change 
Order 7 with La Riviere, Inc. in the amount not to exceed $2,005.58 for changes related 
to water system necessary for the 30” Hartley Sewer Main Project. Motion seconded by 
Council Member O’Meara and approved unanimously. 
 

8. Consider a motion to authorize the Mayor to execute Change Order 8 with La 
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Riviere, Inc. in the amount of $16,799.09 to reconcile estimated contract quantities 
to the actual quantities installed for the 30” Hartley Sewer Main Project. Mr. 
VanGilder 
 
Mayor Rule invited Public Works Director Mr. VanGilder to explain the item. This is the 
final reconciliation for this project.  
 
Motion:  Motion by Council President Kiser to authorize the Mayor to execute Change 
Order 8 with La Riviere, Inc. in an amount not to exceed $16,799.09 to reconcile 
estimated contract quantities to the actual quantities installed for the 30” Hartley Sewer 
Main Project. Motion seconded by Council Member Huggins and approved unanimously. 
 

9. Consider a motion to authorize the Mayor to execute Change Order 9 with La 
Riviere, Inc. to address issues related to stabilization rock and liquidated damages 
associated with the 30” Hartley Sewer Main Project. Mr. VanGilder 
 
Mayor Rule invited Public Works Director Mr. VanGilder to explain the item.  
 
Motion:  Motion by Council President Kiser to authorize the Mayor execute Change 
Order 9 with La Riviere, Inc. to address issues related to stabilization rock and liquidated 
damages associated with the 30” Hartley Sewer Main Project. Motion seconded by 
Council Member O’Meara and approved unanimously. 

 
Public Comments: 
Isaac Cox: Question if the Change Order 9 will mean that Hartley will be worked on again and 
closed.  
 Mayor said this project is complete, but there will be more construction on Hartley in 
connection with the light and other construction projects.  
 
Mike Graefe: Confused how Carlton Meadows was approved with smaller lots and R-4 zoning.  
 Mayor said he would have the Planning and Zoning Official reach out to him to clarify. 
 
Jim Taylor: Asked for clarification on Well 7 and 10, are they not in a looping water system? 
 Mr. VanGilder said Well 7 is very active, and Well 10 is active in a reserve capacity.  

Mayor Rule said the wells will become more active when the boring occurs across the 
Boise River, at which time, the entire system will be completely looped.  

 
Anthony Raymond: Concerned about wrecked cars parked in front of his house. Wants to know 
the code that will address it.  

After discussion between the Mayor, Mr. Raymond, and Council Member Murray, the 
Mayor said someone would get back with Mr. Raymond. 

 
Mayor and Council Comments 
O’Meara: O’Meara discussed CHD4 plans to build a “fly-over” bridge from Old River Rd and 
extending over HWY 30. Concerned this would cut off access from Caldwell to Middleton.  
Mayor said he was not aware of this and tasked Ms. Crofts and Mr. VanGilder to look into it. 
 
Murray: Brought up the code for junk vehicles for Mr. Raymond. 
 
Huggins: Asked for some type of accounting for City Council for the Sawtooth Roundabout. 
Mr. VanGilder said that Knife River would be submitting pay applications.  
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Mayor Rule: Staff is very busy. They are working to get a Request for Proposal (RFP) for the 
River Walk Concept, particularly the Mill Creek Plaza out in April. He appreciates staff’s hard 
work.  
 
Adjourn: Mayor adjourned the meeting at 6:35 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
 
             
ATTEST:      Mayor Steve Rule   
 
      
Jennica Reynolds, Deputy Clerk 
Minutes Approved: March 15, 2023 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 

 
 
Honorable Mayor 
and City Council 
City of Middleton, Idaho 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
Opinions 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the 
discretely presented component unit, each major fund, and the remaining fund information of the City of Middleton, 
Idaho (the City), as of and for the year ended September 30, 2022, and the related notes to the financial statements, 
which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying  financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial 
position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the discretely presented component unit, each 
major fund, and the remaining fund information of the City of Middleton, Idaho, as of September 30, 2022, and the 
respective changes in financial position, and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Basis for Opinions 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and 
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller 
General of the United States. We are required to be independent of the City of Middleton and to meet our other ethical 
responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions. 
 
Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 
 
The City of Middleton’s management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; and for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, 
considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the City of Middleton’s ability to continue as a going 
concern from one year after the date that the financial statements are issued. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the 
aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 
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In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we:  
 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.  
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 

error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, 
on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
City of Middleton’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise 
substantial doubt about the City of Middleton’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of 
time. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control–related matters that we identified 
during the audit. 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the budgetary comparison 
information, schedule of the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability, and schedule of City contributions on 
pages 34 through 38 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part 
of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be 
an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, 
economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information 
in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries 
of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with 
management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our 
audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information 
because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any 
assurance. 
 
Management has omitted management’s discussion and analysis that accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America required to be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such missing 
information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of the financial reporting for placing the basic financial 
statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. Our opinion on the basic financial statements 
is not affected by this missing information. 
 
Supplementary Information 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise the 
City of Middleton, Idaho’s basic financial statements. The schedules of revenues by source and expenditures by object 
are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. 
 
The schedules of revenues by source and expenditures by object are the responsibility of management and were 
derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial 
statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial 
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial 
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in 
the United States of America. In our opinion, the schedules of revenues by source and expenditures by object are fairly 
stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 
 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
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In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated March 9, 2023, on our 
consideration of the City of Middleton, Idaho’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance 
with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that 
report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results 
of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is 
an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the City of 
Middleton, Idaho’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 

Zwygart John & Associates, CPAs, PLLC 
Nampa, Idaho 
March 9, 2023



Component Unit
Governmental 

Activities
Business-type 

Activities Total
Middleton Urban 
Renewal Agency

Assets
Current Assets:

Cash and Cash Equivalents 11,000,225$      10,787,985$    21,788,210$     448,226$           
Property Taxes Receivable, Net 51,235               -                       51,235              123,890             
Accounts Receivable, Net 31,719               349,710           381,429            -                         
Refund Receivable -                         -                       -                        7,794                 
Prepaid Items -                         -                       -                        1,284                 
Due from Other Governments 317,375             -                       317,375            -                         
Unearned Royalty
Interest Receivable 327                    2,396                2,723                -                         

Noncurrent Assets:
Restricted Cash -                         226,172           226,172            -                         
Capital Assets:

Land and Construction in Progress 3,032,329          5,531,658        8,563,987         -                         
Buildings and Improvements, Net 7,296,882          12,987,890 20,284,772       -                         
Equipment, Net 404,345             629,701           1,034,046         -                         

Total Capital Assets 10,733,556        19,149,249      29,882,805       -                         
Total Assets 22,134,437        30,515,512      52,649,949       581,194             

Deferred Outflows
Pension Related Items 689,508             387,848           1,077,356         -                         

Total Deferred Outflows 689,508             387,848           1,077,356         -                         

Liabilities
Current Liabilities:

Accounts Payable 200,712             400,791           601,503            22,113               
Salaries and Benefits Payable 78,898               30,912             109,810            -                         
Customer Deposits -                         48,966             48,966              -                         
Accrued Interest Payable 2,755                 1,152                3,907                18,793               
Long-term Liabilities:

Portion Due or Payable Within One Year:
Bond Payable -                         78,242 78,242              15,244               
Lease Payable 65,616               17,734 83,350              -                         
Compensated Absences 19,213               17,316             36,529              -                         

Portion Due or Payable After One Year:
Bond Payable -                         2,105,393        2,105,393         274,741             
Lease Payable 2,288 9,152                11,440              -                         
Net Pension Liability 1,285,385          723,030           2,008,415         -                         

Total Liabilities 1,654,867          3,432,688        5,087,555         330,891             

Deferred Inflows
Pension Related Items 5,737                 3,227                8,964                -                         
Unavailable Property Tax Revenue -                         -                       -                        123,890             

Total Deferred Inflows 5,737                 3,227                8,964                123,890             

Net Position
Invested in Capital Assets, Net of Related Debt 10,733,556        16,965,614      27,699,170       -                         
Restricted for:

Debt Reserve -                         145,513           145,513            -                         
Streets & Alleys 3,953,139          -                       3,953,139         -                         
Other 3,045,706          -                       3,045,706         -                         

Unrestricted (Deficit) Surplus 3,430,940          10,356,318      13,787,258       126,413             
Total Net Position 21,163,341$      27,467,445$    48,630,786$     126,413$           

City of Middleton, Idaho
Statement of Net Position

September 30, 2022

Primary Government

The accompanying notes are an integral
part of the financial statements.
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City of Middleton, Idaho
Statement of Activities

For the Year Ended September 30, 2022

Charges for Operating  Capital  

Expenses
Services and 

Sales
Grants and 

Contributions
Grants and 

Contributions
Governmental 

Activities
Business-type 

Activities Total 
Component 

Unit
Primary Government:

Governmental Activities:
Administrative 1,431,609$      2,567,604$      8,715$          -$                        1,144,710$       -$                      1,144,710$        
Streets & Alleys 995,988           596,592           -                    -                          (399,396)          -                        (399,396)            
Public Safety 1,688,881        -                       -                    -                          (1,688,881)       -                        (1,688,881)         
Culture and Recreation 575,848           9,307               -                    -                          (566,541)          -                        (566,541)            

Total Governmental
   Activities 4,692,326        3,173,503        8,715            -                          (1,510,108)       -                        (1,510,108)         

Business-type Activities:
Garbage 672,108.0 726,318.0 -                    -                          -                       54,210              54,210               
Water 1,128,667.0 1,898,096.0 -                    -                          -                       769,429            769,429             
Sewer 2,895,126.0 3,675,254.0 -                    910,502              -                       1,690,630         1,690,630          
Storm Drain 62,181.0 72,529.0 -                    -                          -                       10,348              10,348               

Total Business-type
   Activities 4,758,082        6,372,197        -                    910,502              -                       2,524,617         2,524,617          

Total Primary Government 9,450,408$      9,545,700$      8,715$         910,502$           (1,510,108)     2,524,617       1,014,509          

Component Unit:
Middleton Urban Renewal 
Agency 83,367$           -$                     -$                  -$                        (83,367)$       

2,770,745         -                        2,770,745          140,177        
1,929,885         -                        1,929,885          -                    

Franchise Fees 117,081            -                        117,081             -                    
311,573            85,238              396,811             
21,868              31,823              53,691               252               

240,662            (240,662)           -                         -                    
5,391,814         (123,601)           5,268,213          140,429        
3,881,706         2,401,016         6,282,722          57,062          

Net Position, Beginning of Year 17,281,635       25,066,429       42,348,064        69,351          
21,163,341$    27,467,445$    48,630,786$      126,413$     Net Position, End of Year

Other
Unrestricted Investment Earnings

 Transfer between Governmental Funds and 
Business Type Activities 

Total General Revenues and Special Items
Change in Net Position

State Sources

Net (Expense) Revenue and
 Changes in Net Position

Primary Government

General Revenues:
Property Taxes

Program Revenues

The accompanying notes are an integral
part of the financial statements.
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City of Middleton, Idaho
Balance Sheet -

Governmental Funds
September 30, 2022

General
Streets & 

Alleys Impact Fees
Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents 3,787,085$   3,944,215$   3,069,995$   
Receivables, Net:
   Property Tax 28,122          23,113          -                   

Accounts 5,358            26,361          -                   
Interest 327               -                   -                   

Due from Other Governments 317,375        -                   -                   
Total Assets 4,138,267$  3,993,689$  3,069,995$   

Liabilities
Accounts Payable 164,233$      10,429$        24,289$        
Salaries and Benefits Payable 62,932          10,056          -                   

Total Liabilities 227,165        20,485          24,289          

Deferred Inflows
Unavailable Revenue - Property Taxes 24,394          20,065          -                   

Fund Balances
Nonspendable:
Restricted -                   3,953,139     3,045,706     
Unassigned 3,886,708     -                   -                   

Total Fund Balances 3,886,708     3,953,139     3,045,706     
Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows
      and Fund Balances 4,138,267$   3,993,689$   3,069,995$   

The accompanying notes are an integral
part of the financial statements.
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City of Middleton, Idaho
Balance Sheet -

Governmental Funds (continued)
September 30, 2022

Non-major 
Library

Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents 198,930$  11,000,225$  
Receivables, Net:
   Property Tax -                51,235           

Accounts -                31,719           
Interest -                327                

Due from Other Governments -                317,375         
Total Assets 198,930$ 11,400,881$ 

Liabilities
Accounts Payable 1,761$      200,712$       
Salaries and Benefits Payable 5,910        78,898           

Total Liabilities 7,671$     279,610$       

Deferred Inflows
Unavailable Revenue - Property Taxes -                44,459           

Fund Balances
Nonspendable:
Restricted 191,259    7,190,104      
Unassigned 3,886,708      

Total Fund Balances 191,259    11,076,812    
Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows
      and Fund Balances 198,930$  11,400,881$  

Governmental 
Funds

The accompanying notes are an integral
part of the financial statements.
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City of Middleton, Idaho
Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet of the 

Governmental Funds to the Statement of Net Position
September 30, 2022

Total Fund Balances - Governmental Funds 11,076,812$    

 

Land and Construction in Progress 3,032,329$    
Buildings and Improvements, Net of $3,868,897 Accum. Depr. 7,296,882      
Equipment, Net of $1,483,784 Accumulated Depreciation 404,345         

10,733,556      

44,459             

Compensated Absences (19,213)$       
Accrued Interest (2,755)            
Municipal Lease (67,904)          

(89,872)            

Net Pension Liability (1,285,385)$  
Pension Related Deferred Inflows (5,737)            
Pension Related Deferred Outflows 689,508         

(601,614)          

Net Position of Governmental Activities 21,163,341$   

Long-term liabilities, including compensated absences, are not due and payable in the 
current period and, therefore, are not reported as liabilities in the funds.  Long-term liabilities 
at year end consist of:

The City participates in the Public Employer Retirement System of Idaho, which is a cost-
sharing plan.  As a participant they are required to report their share of the Net Pension 
Liability and the related deferred inflows and outflows on their Statement of Net Position.

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Net Position are different 
because of the following:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and, therefore, 
are not reported in governmental funds.  Those assets consist of:

Property taxes receivable will be collected this year, but are not available soon enough to 
pay for current period expenditures and, therefore, are deferred in the funds.

The accompanying notes are an integral
part of the financial statements.
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City of Middleton, Idaho
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and 

Changes in Fund Balances -
Governmental Funds

For the Year Ended September 30, 2022

General Streets & Alleys Impact Fees
Revenues
Property Taxes 1,502,362$   1,258,888$        -$                 
Intergovernmental 708,723        1,221,162          -                   
Charges for Services 1,559,760     596,592             1,124,925    
Interest Earned 12,286          6,322                 3,050           
Other 232,854        76,399               -                   

Total Revenues 4,015,985     3,159,363          1,127,975    

Expenditures
Current:

Administrative 1,280,172     -                        -                   
Streets & Alleys -                    732,143             -                   
Public Safety 495,629        -                        -                   
Police 1,122,488     -                        -                   
Culture and Recreation 174,464        -                        -                   

Capital Outlay 118,451        938,256             -                   
Total Expenditures 3,191,204     1,670,399          -                   

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
   Over Expenditures) 824,781        1,488,964          1,127,975    

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfer In 432,205        -                        -                   
Transfer Out (257,500)       (99,196)             (80,671)        

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 174,705        (99,196)             (80,671)        

Net Change in Fund Balances 999,486        1,389,768          1,047,304    

Fund Balances - Beginning 2,887,222     2,563,371          1,998,402    
Fund Balances - Ending 3,886,708$  3,953,139$       3,045,706$  

The accompanying notes are an integral
part of the financial statements.
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City of Middleton, Idaho
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and 

Changes in Fund Balances -
Governmental Funds (continued)

For the Year Ended September 30, 2022

Non-major
Library

Revenues
Property Taxes -$               2,761,250$        
Intergovernmental -                 1,929,885          
Grants and Contributions 8,715         8,715                 
Charges for Services 9,307         3,290,584          
Interest Earned 210            21,868               
Other 2,320         311,573             

Total Revenues 20,552       8,323,875          

Expenditures
Current:

Administrative -                 1,280,172          
Streets & Alleys -                 732,143             
Public Safety -                 495,629             
Police -                 1,122,488          
Culture and Recreation 207,951     382,415             

Capital Outlay -                 1,056,707          
Total Expenditures 207,951     5,069,554          

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
   Over Expenditures) (187,399)    3,254,321          

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfer In 257,500     689,705             
Transfer Out (11,676)      (449,043)            

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 245,824     240,662             

Net Change in Fund Balances 58,425       3,494,983          

Fund Balances - Beginning 132,834     7,581,829          
Fund Balances - Ending 191,259$  11,076,812$      

Governmental 
Funds

The accompanying notes are an integral
part of the financial statements.
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City of Middleton, Idaho
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues,

Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances of the
Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities

For the Year Ended September 30, 2022

Total Net Change in Fund Balance - Governmental Funds 3,494,983$    

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement 
of Activities are different because of the following:

Capital Outlay 1,057,540$     
Depreciation (571,998)        

485,542         

9,495             

62,295

10,001           

2,613             

(183,223)        

Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities 3,881,706$    

Because some property taxes will not be collected for several months after the 
City's fiscal year ends, they are not considered as "available" revenues in the 
governmental funds and are, instead, counted as deferred tax revenues.  They 
are, however, recorded as revenues in the Statement of Activities.

Compensated absences reported in the Statement of Activities do not require 
the use of current financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as 
expenditures in governmental funds.  This amount represents the net change 
in compensated absences.

Capital outlays are reported in governmental funds as expenditures.  However, 
in the Statement of Activities, the cost of those assets is allocated over their 
useful lives as depreciation expense.  In the current period these amounts are:

The City participates in the Public Employer Retirement System of Idaho, 
which is a cost-sharing plan.  As a participant they are required to report their 
share of the Net Pension Liability and the related deferred inflows and outflows 
on their Statement of net Position.  The changes in the Net Pension Liability 
and the related deferred inflows and outflows does not affect the governmental 
funds, but are reported in the Statement of Activities.

The repayment of the principal of a municipal lease consumes the current 
financial resources of governmental funds.  The repayment of the principal, 
however, has no effect on Net Position.

Accrued interest on long-term debt reported in the Statement of Activities does 
not require the use of current financial resources and, therefore, is not reported 
as an expenditure in governmental funds.  This amount represents the net 
change in accrued interest.

The accompanying notes are an integral
part of the financial statements.
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City of Middleton, Idaho
Statement of Net Position -

Proprietary Funds
September 30, 2022

Non-major
Garbage Water Sewer Storm Drain Total

Assets
Current Assets:

Cash and Cash Equivalents 134,147$   4,239,427$    6,274,476$     139,935$     10,787,985$    
Accounts Receivable, Net 65,763       85,115           198,832          -                   349,710           
Interest Receivable -                 1,035             1,361              -                   2,396               

Total Current Assets 199,910     4,325,577      6,474,669       139,935       11,140,091      
Noncurrent Assets:

Restricted Cash -                 80,659           145,513          -                   226,172           
Capital Assets:

Land and Construction
in Progress -                 1,579,990      3,951,668       -                   5,531,658        

Buildings and Improvements, Net -                 2,760,258      10,227,632     -                   12,987,890      
Equipment, Net -                 390,621         239,080          -                   629,701           

Total Noncurrent Assets -                 4,811,528      14,563,893     -                   19,375,421      
    Total Assets 199,910     9,137,105      21,038,562     139,935       30,515,512      

Deferred Outflows
Pension Related Items -                 193,924         193,924          -                   387,848           

Total Deferred Outflows -                 193,924         193,924          -                   387,848           

Liabilities  
Current Liabilities:

Accounts Payable 59,017       21,570           310,525          9,679           400,791           
Salaries and Benefits Payable -                 10,148           20,764            -                   30,912             
Customer Deposits -                 48,966           -                      -                   48,966             
Compensated Absences -                 7,769             9,547              -                   17,316             
Accrued Interest Payable -                 -                     1,152              -                   1,152               
Bonds, Notes, and Loans Payable -                 -                     78,242            -                   78,242             
Lease Payable 8,867             8,867              17,734             

Total Current Liabilities 59,017       97,320           429,097          9,679           595,113           
Noncurrent Liabilities:

Bonds, Notes, and Loans Payable -                 -                     2,105,393       -                   2,105,393        
Net Pension Liability -                 361,515         361,515          -                   723,030           
Lease Payable -                 4,576             4,576              -                   9,152               

Total Noncurrent Liabilities -                 366,091         2,471,484       -                   2,837,575        
Total Liabilities 59,017       463,411         2,900,581       9,679           3,432,688        

Deferred Inflows
Pension Related Items -                 1,614             1,613              -                   3,227               

Total Deferred Inflows -                 1,614             1,613              -                   3,227               

Net Position
Invested in Capital Assets, 

Net of Related Debt -                 4,730,869      12,234,745     -                   16,965,614      
Restricted - Debt Reserve -                 -                     145,513          -                   145,513           
Unrestricted 140,893     4,135,135      5,950,034       130,256       10,356,318      

Total Net Position 140,893$   8,866,004$   18,330,292$  130,256$     27,467,445$   

The accompanying notes are an integral
part of the financial statements.
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City of Middleton, Idaho
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes

in Fund Net Position - Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended September 30, 2022

Non-major
Garbage Water Sewer Storm Drain Total

Operating Revenues
Charges for Services 726,318$   1,877,095$   3,675,254$     72,529$       6,351,196$     
Rent -                21,001          -                      -                  21,001            
Grants -                -                    910,502          -                  910,502          
Miscellaneous 22,122       62,916          200                 -                  85,238            

Total Operating Revenues 748,440     1,961,012     4,585,956       72,529         7,367,937       

Operating Expenses
Salaries -                284,984        340,388          -                  625,372          
Benefits -                154,862        202,032          -                  356,894          
Supplies 1,030         3,164            2,176              -                  6,370              
Professional Services 670,080     128,401        1,036,179       60,443         1,895,103       
Utilities -                75,786          81,218            -                  157,004          
Miscellaneous 998            60,699          281,839          -                  343,536          
Repairs and Maintenance -                238,590        304,475          1,738           544,803          
Depreciation -                182,181        584,715          -                  766,896          

Total Operating Expenses 672,108     1,128,667     2,833,022       62,181         4,695,978       

Income (Loss) From Operations 76,332       832,345        1,752,934       10,348         2,671,959       

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)
Interest Earned 106            12,088          19,629            -                  31,823            
Interest Expense -                -                    (62,104)           -                  (62,104)           
Transfers Out (19,274)     (110,694)       (110,694)         -                  (240,662)         

Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) (19,168)     (98,606)         (153,169)         -                  (270,943)         

Change in Net Position 57,164       733,739        1,599,765       10,348         2,401,016       

Total Net Position - Beginning 83,729       8,132,265     16,730,527     119,908       25,066,429     

Total Net Position - Ending 140,893$  8,866,004$  18,330,292$  130,256$     27,467,445$  

The accompanying notes are an integral
part of the financial statements.
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Non-major
Garbage Water Sewer Storm Drain Total

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Receipts from Customers 738,272$    1,943,997$    4,566,122$      72,529$         7,320,920$     
Payments to Suppliers (663,987)    (566,390)        (2,055,308)       (55,025)          (3,340,710)      
Payments to Employees -                 (393,581)        (470,184)          -                     (863,765)         

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities 74,285        984,026         2,040,630        17,504           3,116,445       

Cash Flows From Noncapital Financing Activities
Net Cash Transfer In (Out) (19,274)      (110,694)        (110,694)          -                     (240,662)         

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Noncapital 
Financing Activities (19,274)      (110,694)        (110,694)          -                     (240,662)         

Cash Flows From Capital and Related 
Financing Activities

Purchases and Construction of Capital Assets -                 (18,185)          (1,403,096)       -                     (1,421,281)      
Principal Paid on Capital Debt -                 (8,499)            (84,647)            -                     (93,146)           
Interest Paid on Capital Debt -                 -                     (62,144)            -                     (62,144)           

Net Cash Used by Capital and Related 
Financing Activities -                 (26,684)          (1,549,887)       -                     (1,576,571)      

Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Interest and Dividends 106             11,291           18,581             -                     29,978            

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Investing Activities 106             11,291           18,581             -                     29,978            

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash
and Cash Equivalents 55,117        857,939         398,630           17,504           1,329,190       

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning 79,030        3,462,147      6,021,359        122,431         9,684,967       
Cash and Cash Equivalents - Ending 134,147$   4,320,086$   6,419,989$     139,935$       11,014,157$  

Displayed As:
Cash 134,147$    4,239,427$    6,274,476$      139,935$       10,787,985$   
Restricted Cash -                 80,659           145,513           -                     226,172          

134,147$   4,320,086$   6,419,989$     139,935$       11,014,157$  

City of Middleton, Idaho
Statement of Cash Flows -

Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended September 30, 2022

The accompanying notes are an integral
part of the financial statements.

14



City of Middleton, Idaho
Statement of Cash Flows -

Proprietary Funds (continued)
For the Year Ended September 30, 2022

Non-major
Garbage Water Sewer Storm Drain Total

Reconciliation of Operating Income (Loss) to Net
Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities:

Operating Income (Loss) 76,332$      832,345$      1,752,934$    10,348$         2,671,959$    
Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Income to Net

Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities:

Depreciation -                  182,181        584,715         -                    766,896         
(Increase) Decrease in Accounts Receivable (10,168)       (17,382)         (19,834)         -                    (47,384)          
(Increase) Decrease in Deferred Outflows -                  (80,989)         (89,247)         -                    (170,236)        
Increase (Decrease) in Accounts Payable 8,121          (59,750)         (349,421)       7,156             (393,894)        
Increase (Decrease) in Customer Deposits -                  367               -                    -                    367                
Increase (Decrease) in Salaries and Benefits Payable -                  (303)              7,403             -                    7,100             
Increase (Decrease) in Compensated Absences -                  (2,336)           1,860             -                    (476)               
Increase (Decrease) in Net Pension Liability -                  364,779        382,052         -                    746,831         
Increase (Decrease) in Deferred Inflows -                  (234,886)       (229,832)       -                    (464,718)        

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities 74,285$     984,026$     2,040,630$   17,504$         3,116,445$   

The accompanying notes are an integral
part of the financial statements.
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City of Middleton, Idaho 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

A. Reporting Entity 
 

The accompanying financial statements present the activities of the City of 
Middleton, Idaho (the City), which has responsibility and control over all activities 
related to public safety, planning and zoning, parks, roads and streets, water, and 
sewer services within the City. The City receives funding from local, state, and 
federal government sources and must comply with all of the requirements of these 
funding source entities. However, the City is not included in any other governmental 
reporting entity as defined by generally accepted accounting principles. Council 
members are elected by the public and have decision-making authority, the power to 
designate management, the ability to significantly influence operations, and the 
primary accountability for fiscal matters.   
 
The accompanying financial statements present the City and its component units, 
entities for which the City is considered to be financially accountable. The 
component unit column in the government-wide statements is the financial data of 
the Middleton Urban Renewal Agency (the Agency). The Agency is a separate and 
distinct legal entity created by State statute. The directors are appointed by the 
Mayor and approved by the City Council. The Agency provides urban development 
services for the citizens of the City. Complete financial statements can be obtained 
from the City of Middleton. 

 
B. Basis of Presentation, Basis of Accounting 
 

Basis of Presentation 
 
Government-wide Statements: The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of 
Activities display information about the financial activities of the City. Eliminations 
have been made to minimize the double counting of internal activities. These 
statements distinguish between the governmental and business-type activities of the 
City. Governmental activities generally are financed through taxes, 
intergovernmental revenues, and other non-exchange transactions. Business-type 
activities are financed in whole or in part by fees charged to external parties.  
 
The Statement of Activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and 
program revenues for each segment of the business-type activities of the City and 
for each function of the City’s governmental activities. 
 
 Direct expenses are those that are specifically associated with a program or 

function and, therefore, are clearly identifiable to a particular function.  
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 
 Indirect expensesexpenses of the general government related to the 

administration and support of the City’s programs, such as personnel and 
accounting (but not interest on long-term debt)are allocated to programs 
based on their percentage of total primary government expenses.  Interest 
expenses are allocated to the programs that manage the capital assets 
financed with long-term debt. 

 
 Program revenues include (a) charges paid by the recipients of goods or 

services offered by the programs and (b) grants and contributions that are 
restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular 
program.  Revenues that are not classified as program revenues, including all 
taxes and state formula aid, are presented as general revenues. 

 
Fund Financial Statements: The fund financial statements provide information about 
the City’s funds. Separate statements for each fund categorygovernmental and 
proprietaryare presented. The emphasis of fund financial statements is on major 
governmental and enterprise funds, each displayed in a separate column. Any 
remaining governmental and enterprise funds would be aggregated and reported as 
nonmajor funds. 
 
The City reports the following major governmental funds: 
 

 General fund. This is the City’s primary operating fund.  It accounts for all 
financial resources of the City, except those required to be accounted for in 
another fund. 

 Streets & Alleys fund. This fund accounts for the activities related to the City’s 
roads and streets. 

 Impact fees. This fund accounts for the activities related to impact fees. 
 
Proprietary fund operating revenues and expenses are related to providing 
sanitation, water, and sewer services to the residents and businesses of the City of 
Middleton, Idaho and providing services to other parts of the City government. 
Revenues and expenses that arise from capital and non-capital financing activities 
and from investing activities are presented as non-operating revenues or expenses. 
 
The City reports the following major enterprise funds: 

 Water fund. This fund accounts for the activities of the City’s water supply 
system, pumping stations, and collection systems. 

 Sewer fund. This fund accounts for the operations and collections of the City’s 
sewer system. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

 Garbage fund. This fund accounts for the operations and collections of the 
City’s sanitation services. 

 
Basis of Accounting  
 
The government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements are reported using 
the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. 
Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at the time 
liabilities are incurred, regardless of when the related cash flows take place.  
 
Nonexchange transactions, in which the City receives value without directly giving 
equal value in return, include property taxes, grants, and donations. On an accrual 
basis, revenue from property taxes is recognized in the fiscal year for which the 
taxes are levied. Revenue from grants and donations is recognized in the fiscal year 
in which all eligibility requirements have been satisfied. 
 
Governmental funds are reported using the current financial resources
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Under this 
method, revenues are recognized when measurable and available. The City 
considers all revenues reported in the governmental funds to be available if they are 
collected within sixty days after year-end. Expenditures are recorded when the 
related fund liability is incurred, except for principal and interest on general long-term 
debt, and claims and judgments, which are recognized as expenditures to the extent 
they have matured. General capital asset acquisitions are reported as expenditures 
in governmental funds. Proceeds of general long-term liabilities and acquisitions 
under capital leases are reported as other financing sources.  
 
Fund Balance Reporting in Governmental Funds 
 
Different measurement focuses and bases of accounting are used in the 
government-wide Statement of Net Position and in the governmental fund Balance 
Sheet. 
 
The City uses the following fund balance categories in the governmental fund 
Balance Sheet: 
 

 Nonspendable. Prepaid items that are permanently precluded from 
conversion to cash. 

 Restricted. Balances constrained to a specific purpose by enabling legislation, 
external parties, or constitutional provisions. 

 Unassigned. Balances available for any purpose. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 
The remaining fund balance classifications (committed and assigned) are either not 
applicable or no formal policy has yet been established to be able to utilize such 
classifications of fund balance. However, if there had been committed funds, these 
amounts would have been decided by the City Council, the City’s highest level of 
decision-making authority, through a formal action. The City Council would also have 
the authority to assign funds or authorize another official to do so. 
 
Under the terms of grant agreements, the City funds certain programs by a 
combination of specific cost-reimbursement grants, categorical block grants, and 
general revenues. Thus, when program expenses are incurred, there are both 
restricted and unrestricted net position/fund balance available to finance the 
program. When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is 
the government’s intent to use restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources 
as they are needed. 
 
There is also no formal policy regarding the use of committed, assigned, or 
unassigned fund balances. However, it is the City’s intent that when an expenditure 
is incurred for purposes for which amounts in any of the unrestricted classifications 
of fund balance could be used, the City considers committed amounts to be reduced 
first, followed by assigned amounts, and then unassigned amounts. 
 
In the Streets & Alleys fund, external parties require that property taxes, grants, and 
intergovernmental revenues are to be used to maintain, build, or improve the City’s 
roads and streets. 
 

C. Assets and Liabilities 
 
Cash Equivalents 
 
The City requires all cash belonging to the City to be placed in custody of the 
Treasurer. A “Pooled Cash” concept is therefore used in maintaining the cash and 
investment accounts in the accounting records. Under this method, all cash is 
pooled for investment purposes and each fund has equity in the pooled amount. All 
amounts included in the pooled cash and investment accounts are considered to be 
cash and cash equivalents. See Note 2. 
 
Receivables 
 
All trade receivables are shown net of an allowance for doubtful accounts. As of 
September 30, 2022, there were no allowances in any of the funds. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 
Property Tax Calendar 
 
The City levies its real property taxes through the county in September of each year 
based upon the assessed valuation as of the previous July. Property taxes are due 
in two installments on December 20 and June 20 and are considered delinquent on 
January 1 and July 1, at which time the property is subject to lien. 
 
Capital Assets 
 
Capital assets are reported at actual or estimated historical cost based on appraisals 
or deflated current replacement cost. Contributed assets are reported at estimated 
fair value at the time received. 
 
Capitalization thresholds (the dollar value above which asset acquisitions are added 
to the capital asset accounts), depreciation methods, and estimated useful lives of 
capital assets reported in the government-wide statements and proprietary funds are 
shown below: 

  Capitalization Depreciation Estimated 
 Policy Method Useful Life 
Buildings and Improvements  $5,000  Straight-Line 8 – 40 Years 
Equipment and Vehicles  $5,000  Straight-Line 5 – 20 Years 

 
General infrastructure assets acquired prior to October 2003, are not reported in the 
basic financial statements. General infrastructure assets include all roads and 
bridges and other infrastructure assets acquired subsequent to October 1, 2003. 
 
Depreciation is used to allocate the actual or estimated historical cost of all capital 
assets over their estimated useful lives.  
 
Compensated Absences 
 
The City uses the vesting method to compute compensated absences awarded to 
employees. 
 
Pensions 

 
For purposes of measuring the net pension liability and pension expense, 
information about the fiduciary net position of the Public Employee Retirement 
System of Idaho Base Plan (Base Plan) and additions to/deductions from Base 
Plan’s fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are 
reported by the Base Plan. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of 
employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with 
the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 
Use of Estimates 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial 
statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those 
estimates. 
 

2. CASH AND INVESTMENTS 
 

Deposits 
 
As of September 30, 2022, the carrying amount of the City’s deposits was $5,723,704  
and the respective bank balances totaled $5,958,975 . $4,723,704 of the bank balance 
was not insured through the Federal Depository Insurance Corporation (FDIC).  
 
Custodial Credit Risk – Deposits 
 
Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the government’s 
deposits may not be returned. As of September 30, 2022, $4,723,704 of the City’s 
deposits were not covered by the federal depository insurance or by collateral held by 
the City’s agent or pledging financial institution’s trust department or agent in the name 
of the City. The City also had $750 of petty cash on hand. The City does not have a 
formal policy limiting its exposure to custodial credit risk. 
 
Custodial Credit Risk – Investments 
 
Custodial credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counter party to an investment will 
not fulfill its obligations. The City does not have a formal policy limiting its custodial 
credit risk for investments. 
 
Interest Rate Risk 
 
The City does not have a formal policy limiting investment maturities that would help 
manage its exposure to fair value losses from increasing interest rates. 
 
Investments 
 
The City voluntarily participates in the State of Idaho Investment Pool which does not 
have a credit rating. The pool is not registered with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission or any other regulatory body. Oversight of the pool is with the State 
Treasurer, and Idaho Code defines allowable investments. The fair value of the City’s 
investment in the pool is the same as the value of the pool shares.  
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2. CASH AND INVESTMENTS (continued) 

 
It is the City’s policy to limit investments to the safest types of securities and to diversify 
the City’s investment portfolio so that potential losses on securities will be minimized. 
The City follows Idaho Statute that outlines qualifying investment options as follows: 
 
Idaho Code authorizes the City to invest any available funds in obligations issued or 
guaranteed by the United States Treasury, the State of Idaho, local Idaho municipalities 
and taxing districts, the Farm Credit System, or Idaho public corporations, as well as 
time deposit accounts and repurchase agreements. 
 
The City’s investments at September 30, 2022, are summarized below: 
 

Maturity (In Years)
 Investment Type  Fair Value  Less Than 1 

 Money Market Funds 14,711,275$   14,711,275$        
 External Investment Pool 1,578,653       1,578,653            

16,289,928$   16,289,928$        

 
At year-end, cash and investments were reported in the basic financial statements in 
the following categories: 

Governmental Business-type
  Activities  Activities  Total 

Cash and cash equivalents 4,499,740$   1,144,055$   5,643,795$    
Restricted Cash and Investments -                      226,172 226,172         
Investments categorized as deposits 6,500,485      9,643,930     16,144,415    

11,000,225$ 11,014,157$ 22,014,382$ 

 
The City has set aside restricted funds of $226,172 , which includes $145,513 in 
accordance with debt restrictions and $80,659  for utility customers’ deposits. 
 

3. DUE FROM OTHER GOVERNMENTAL UNITS 
 

Amounts due from other governmental units consist of state revenue sharing of 
$317,375 .  
 

4. PROPERTY TAXES 
 

The City receives tax revenue from Canyon County. The County is responsible for 
property valuation and collection of tax levies. The taxes that have not been remitted to 
the City by the County as of September 30, 2022, are considered by the City as a 
receivable. Taxes not collected within 60 days after September 30, 2022, are not 
considered available for use by the City and are recorded as deferred revenue in the 
fund financial statements. 
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5. PENSION PLAN 
 

Plan Description 
 
The City of Middleton, Idaho contributes to the Base Plan which is a cost-sharing 
multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan administered by Public Employee 
Retirement System of Idaho (PERSI or System) that covers substantially all 
employees of the State of Idaho, its agencies and various participating political 
subdivisions. The cost to administer the plan is financed through the contributions and 
investment earnings of the plan. PERSI issues a publicly available financial report 
that includes financial statements and the required supplementary information for 
PERSI. That report may be obtained on the PERSI website at www.persi.idaho.gov. 
 
Responsibility for administration of the Base Plan is assigned to the Board comprised 
of five members appointed by the Governor and confirmed by the Idaho Senate. State 
law requires that two members of the Board be active Base Plan members with at 
least ten years of service and three members who are Idaho citizens not members of 
the Base Plan except by reason of having served on the Board. 
 
Pension Benefits 
 
The Base Plan provides retirement, disability, death and survivor benefits of eligible 
members or beneficiaries. Benefits are based on members’ years of service, age, and 
highest average salary. Members become fully vested in their retirement benefits with 
five years of credited service (5 months for elected or appointed officials). Members 
are eligible for retirement benefits upon attainment of the ages specified for their 
employment classification. The annual service retirement allowance for each month of 
credited service is 2.0% (2.3% for police/firefighters) of the average monthly salary for 
the highest consecutive 42 months. 
 
The benefit payments for the Base Plan are calculated using a benefit formula 
adopted by the Idaho Legislature. The Base Plan is required to provide a 1% minimum 
cost of living increase per year provided the Consumer Price Index increases 1% or 
more. The PERSI Board has the authority to provide higher cost of living increases to 
a maximum of the Consumer Price Index movement or 6%, whichever is less; 
however, any amount above the 1% minimum is subject to review by the Idaho 
Legislature. 
 
Member and Employer Contributions 
 
Member and employer contributions paid to the Base Plan are set by statute and are 
established as a percent of covered compensation and earnings from investments.  
Contribution rates are determined by the PERSI Board within limitations, as defined 
by state law. The Board may make periodic changes to employer and employee 
contribution rates (expressed as percentages of annual covered payroll) if current 
rates are actuarially determined to be inadequate or in excess to accumulate sufficient 
assets to pay benefits when due. 



City of Middleton, Idaho 
Notes to Financial Statements 

For the Year Ended September 30, 2022 
___________________________________________________________________________ 

24 

 
5. PENSION PLAN (continued) 

 
The contribution rates for employees are set by statute at 60% of the employer rate for 
general employees and 74% for public safety. As of June 30, 2022, it was 7.16% for 
general employees and 9.13% for public safety. The employer contribution rate as a 
percent of covered payroll is set by the Retirement Board and was 11.94% for general 
employees and 12.28% for police and firefighters. The City of Middleton, Idaho’s 
contributions were $246,807 for the year ended September 30, 2022. 
 
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense (Revenue), and Deferred Outflows of Resources 
and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions 
 
At September 30, 2022, the City of Middleton, Idaho reported a liability for its 
proportionate share of the net pension liability. The net pension liability was measured 
as of June 30, 2022, and the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension 
liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. The City of 
Middleton, Idaho’s proportion of the net pension liability was based on the City of 
Middleton Idaho’s share of contributions in the Base Plan pension plan relative to the 
total contributions of all participating PERSI Base Plan employers. At June 30, 2022, 
the City of Middleton, Idaho’s proportion was 0.0509911 percent. 
 
For the year ended September 30, 2022, the City of Middleton recognized pension 
expense/ (revenue) of $541,901. At September 30, 2022, the City of Middleton, Idaho 
reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
pensions from the following sources: 
 

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources

Deferred 
Inflows of 

Resources

 $       220,851  $              8,964 
          327,432                           - 

          462,112                           - 

             66,961                           - 

 $    1,077,356  $              8,964 Total

Differences between expected and actual experience
Changes in assumptions or other inputs
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on 
pension plan investments
City of Middleton, Idaho's contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date

 
$66,961 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from 
Employer contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a 
reduction of the net pension liability in the year ending September 30, 2022. 
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5. PENSION PLAN (continued) 

 
The average of the expected remaining service lives of all employees that are provided 
with pensions through the System (active and inactive employees) determined at July 1, 
2022, the beginning of the measurement period ended June 30, 2021, is 4.6 years and 
4.6 for the measurement period June 30, 2022. 
 
Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense (revenue) as 
follows: 

For the Year Ended 
September 30: PERSI

2023 306,439$ 
2024 259,977
2025 120,239
2026 381,737  

 
Actuarial Assumptions 
 
Valuations are based on actuarial assumptions, the benefit formulas, and employee 
groups. Level percentages of payroll normal costs are determined using the Entry Age 
Normal Cost Method. Under the Entry Age Normal Cost Method, the actuarial present 
value of the projected benefits of each individual included in the actuarial valuation is 
allocated as a level percentage of each year’s earnings of the individual between entry 
age and assumed exit age. The Base Plan amortizes any unfunded actuarial accrued 
liability based on a level percentage of payroll. The maximum amortization period for 
the Base Plan permitted under Section 59-1322, Idaho Code, is 25 years. 
 
The total pension liability in the June 30, 2022 actuarial valuation was determined using 
the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement: 
 
Inflation 2.30% 
Salary increases 3.05%
Salary inflation 3.05%
Investment rate of return 6.35%, net of investment expenses 
Cost-of-living adjustments 1% 

 
Contributing Members, Service Retirement Members, and Beneficiaries 
 

 General Employees and All Beneficiaries – Males Pub-2010 General Tables, 
increased 11% 

 General Employees and All Beneficiaries – Females Pub-2010 General Tables, 
increased 21% 

 Teachers – Males Pub-2010 Teacher Tables, increased 12% 
 Teachers – Females Pub-2010 Teacher Tables, increased 21% 
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5. PENSION PLAN (continued) 

 Fire & Police – Males Pub-2010 Safety Tables, increased 21% 
 Fire & Police – Females Pub -2010 Safety Tables, increased 26% 
 Disabled Members – Males Pub-2010 Disabled Tables, increased 38% 
 Disabled Members – Females Pub-2010 Disabled Tables, increased 36% 

 
An experience study was performed for the period July 1, 2015 through June 30, 2020 
which reviewed all economic and demographic assumptions Including mortality. The 
Total Pension Liability as of June 30, 2022 is based on the results of an actuarial 
valuation date of July 1, 2022. 
 
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined 
using the building block approach and a forward-looking model in which best estimate 
ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension plan 
investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class.  
 
These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by 
weighing the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation 
percentage and by adding expected inflation. 
 
Even though history provides a valuable perspective for setting the investment return 
assumption, the System relies primarily on an approach which builds upon the latest 
capital market assumptions. Specifically, the System uses consultants, investment 
managers and trustees to develop capital market assumptions in analyzing the 
System’s asset allocation. The assumptions and the System’s formal policy for asset 
allocation are shown below. The formal asset allocation policy is somewhat more 
conservative than the current allocation of System’s assets. 
 
The best-estimate range for the long-term expected rate of return is determined by 
adding expected inflation to expected long-term real returns and reflecting expected 
volatility and correlation. The capital market assumptions are as of 2022. 
 

Asset Class
Fixed Income 30.00%
US/Global Equity 55.00%
International Equity 15.00%
Cash 0.00%
Total 100.00%  
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5. PENSION PLAN (continued) 

 
Discount Rate 
 
The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.35%. The 
projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that 
contributions from plan members will be made at the current contribution rate. Based 
on these assumptions, the pension plans’ net position was projected to be available to 
make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the 
long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all 
periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. The long-
term expected rate of return was determined net of pension plan investment expense 
but without reduction for pension plan administrative expense. 
 
Sensitivity of the Employer's proportionate share of the net pension liability to changes 
in the discount rate. 

 
The following presents the Employer's proportionate share of the net pension liability 
calculated using the discount rate of 6.35 percent, as well as what the Employer's 
proportionate share of the net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a 
discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (5.35 percent) or 1-percentage-point 
higher (7.35 percent) than the current rate: 
 

1% Decrease
(5.35%)

Current Discount 
Rate (6.35%)

1% Increase
(7.35%)

Employer's proportionate share of 
the net pension liability (asset)

 $            3,544,655  $           2,008,415  $              751,041 

 
Pension plan fiduciary net position 
 
Detailed information about the pension plan's fiduciary net position is available in the 
separately issued PERSI financial report. 
 
PERSI issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements 
and the required supplementary information for PERSI. That report may be obtained 
on the PERSI website at www.persi.idaho.gov.  
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6. COMPENSATED ABSENCES 
 

Vacation leave is granted to all regular City employees. In the event of termination, an 
employee is reimbursed for accumulated vacation leave. Changes in accumulated 
vacation are as follows: 
 

9/30/2021 Earned Used 9/30/2022 Current

Governmental Activities 29,214$  46,652$  (56,653)$ 19,213$  19,213$  
Business-type Activities 17,792    32,195    (32,671)   17,316    17,316    

47,006$  78,847$  (89,324)$ 36,529$  36,529$   
 

7. CAPITAL ASSETS 
 

Capital asset activity for the year ended September 30, 2022, was as follows: 
 

9/30/2021  Additions  Disposals 9/30/2022

Governmental Activities:
Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated:

Land 1,743,921$     925,140$     -$               2,669,061$     
Construction in Progress 363,268          -                   -                 363,268          

Total 1,725,661       925,140       -                 3,032,329       

Capital Assets Being Depreciated:
Buildings and Improvements 11,033,379     132,400       -                 11,165,779     
Equipment 1,888,129       -                   -                 1,888,129       

Total Historical Cost 10,707,072     132,400       -                 13,053,908     

Less: Accumulated Depreciation
Buildings and Improvements 3,424,449       444,448       -                 3,868,897       
Equipment 1,356,234       127,550       -                 1,483,784       

Total Accumulated Depreciation 3,210,556       571,998       -                 5,352,681       

Net Depreciable Assets 7,496,516       (439,598)      -                 7,701,227       

Governmental Activities - Net 9,222,177$     485,542$     -$               10,733,556$   
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7. CAPITAL ASSETS (continued) 

 
9/30/2021  Additions  Disposals 9/30/2022

Business-type Activities:
Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated:

Land and Easments 3,625,867$     -$                 -$               3,625,867$     
Construction in Progress 554,730          1,351,061    -                 1,905,791       

Total 3,699,867       1,351,061    -                 5,531,658       

Capital Assets Being Depreciated:
Buildings and Improvements 20,621,460     19,450         -                 20,640,910     
Equipment 1,966,256       50,770         -                 2,017,026       

Total Historical Cost 20,729,519     70,220         -                 22,657,936     

Less: Accumulated Depreciation
Buildings and Improvements 7,003,785       649,235       -                 7,653,020       
Equipment 1,269,664       117,661       -                 1,387,325       

Total Accumulated Depreciation 5,614,395       766,896       -                 9,040,345       

Net Depreciable Assets 15,115,124     (696,676)      -                 13,617,591     

Business-type Activities - Net 17,688,031$   654,385$     -$               19,149,249$   

 
Depreciation expense was charged to the functions of the City as follows: 
 
Governmental Activities: 

Administrative 51,700$        
Highway and Streets 345,604        
Public Safety 48,306          
Culture and Recreation 126,388        

571,998$      
 

All assets that were constructed using the bond funds were completed in prior years, so 
no interest has been capitalized in the enterprise funds. 

8. RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
The City is exposed to a considerable number of risks of loss including, but not limited 
to, a) damage to and loss of property and contents, b) employee torts, c) professional 
liabilities, i.e. errors and omissions, d) environmental damage, e) worker’s 
compensation, i.e. employee injuries, and f) medical insurance costs of its employees.  
Commercial insurance policies are purchased to transfer the risk of loss for property 
and content damage, employee torts, medical insurance costs, and professional 
liabilities. 
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9. LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 
 
Business-type Activities – Sewer Fund Bond Payable 
 
The City issued $2,800,000 of Series 2013 Revenue Bonds dated September 23, 2013, 
with a maturity date of September 23, 2043, and bearing interest at 2.75% per annum. 
Payments are due in September of each year. The Bonds were issued to pay for sewer 
system upgrades. 
 
Business-type Activities – Sewer Fund Note Payable 
 
Changes in long-term obligations for the year ended September 30, 2022, are as 
follows: 
 

Current
Description Rate 9/30/2021 Increase Decrease 9/30/2022 Portion

USDA Loan 92-02 2.750% 2,259,783$   -$              (76,148)$    2,183,635$  78,242$    

 
Debt service requirements on long-term debt at September 30, 2022, are as follows: 
 

Year Ending

September 30, Principal Interest

2023 78,242$       60,050$       
2024 80,394         57,898         
2025 82,605         55,687         
2026 84,876         53,416         
2027 87,210         51,082         

2028-2032 473,372       218,088       
2033-2037 542,140       149,320       
2038-2042 620,899       70,561         
2043-2043 133,897       3,682           

2,183,635$ 719,784$    

Bonds

 
 

There was $62,144 of interest expense for the year ended September 30, 2022. No 
interest was capitalized during the year. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



City of Middleton, Idaho 
Notes to Financial Statements 

For the Year Ended September 30, 2022 
___________________________________________________________________________ 

31 

10. TRANSFERS 
 

During the year ended September 30, 2022 the following transfers took place between 
funds: 
 

257,500$    To the Library Fund from the General Fund to reimburse expenses.
80,671        To the General Fund from the Impact Fees Fund to reimburse expenses.
99,196        To the General Fund from the Street Fund to reimburse expenses.
19,274        To the General Fund from the Garbage Fund to reimburse expenses.

110,694      To the General Fund from the Water Fund to reimburse expenses.
110,694      To the General Fund from the Sewer Fund to reimburse expenses.
11,676        To the General Fund from the Library Fund to reimburse expenses.

689,705$     
 

11. MUNICIPAL LEASE 
 

The City leases certain vehicles under long-term lease agreements. Certain leases 
have been recorded as municipal leases. The municipal leases consist of: 
 

Governmental Activities:
Equipment 494,964$ 
Less: accumulated amortization (included as depreciation

on the accompanying financial statements) by function
Public Safety (335,696)  

159,269$  
 

Changes in long-term obligations for the year ended September 30, 2022, are as 
follows: 

 
Description Maturity Rate 9/30/2021 Increase Decrease 9/30/2022 Current

Governmental Activities:

Lease - Police Vehicles 2023 5.40% 119,228             -               (58,046)      61,182      61,182      

Lease - Loader 2024 4.40% 10,971              -               (4,249)        6,722        4,434        

130,199$           -$             (62,295)$    67,904$    65,616$    

Business Type Activities

Lease - Loader 2024 4.40% 43,884$             -$             (16,998)$    26,886$    17,734$    
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11. MUNICIPAL LEASE (continued) 
 
Future minimum lease requirements as of September 30, 2022, are as follows: 
 

Year Ending 
September 30, Principal Interest Total Payment Principal Interest Total Payment

2023 65,616$    3,548$    69,164$          17,734$  967$     18,701$         
2024 2,288        49           2,337              9,152      198       9,350             

 67,904$    3,597$    71,501$          26,886$  1,165$  28,051$         

Governmental Activities Business Type Activities

 
12. LEASE REVENUE 

 
The City leases the land for the Viper Park to the Greater Middleton Area Recreation 
District with a 40 year lease for $400. All $400 was paid at the start of the lease in 2021. 
At the completion of the lease the property, and any improvements made on the 
property, will return to the City’s control. 
 
The City leases a gravel pit to a construction company.  The lease is for 2 years, with an 
option to extend every 2 years for a total of 10 years. The City $541,251 in leases 
payments during the year ending September 30, 2022. 
 

13. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
Middleton Urban Renewal Agency (the Agency) is a component unit of the City. The 
capital assets constructed from the Agency’s activities are contributed to the City. In the 
current year, there was no work for assets transferred from the Agency to the City. 
There are no amounts payable between the Agency and the City as of September 30, 
2022. 
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14. COMPONENT UNIT 
 

The Middleton Urban Renewal Agency (the Agency) is a separate and distinct legal 
entity of the City of Middleton created by and existing under the Idaho Urban Renewal 
Law of 1965, as amended. The Directors for the Agency are appointed by the Mayor 
and approved by the City Council. The Agency provides urban renewal services for the 
citizens of the City. 
 
The following is a summary of the disclosures required for a fair presentation of the 
component unit in the City’s financial statements. 
 
A summary of long-term liability activity for the year ended September 30, 2022, is as 
follows: 
 

Estimated

Governmental Activities: Rate Beginning Increase Decrease Ending Current

Note Payable - Middleton

Village Project 4.110% 289,985$   -$              -$              289,985$   15,244$     

289,985$   -$              -$              289,985$   15,244$     
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City of Middleton, Idaho
Budgetary (GAAP Basis) Comparison Schedule

General Fund
For the Year Ended September 30, 2022

Original Final Actual Variance
Revenues
Property Taxes 1,519,814$    1,519,814$    1,502,362$      (17,452)$        
Intergovernmental 484,468         484,468         708,723           224,255         
Grants and Contributions 34,320           34,320           -                       (34,320)          
Charges for Services 1,263,200      1,263,200      1,559,760        296,560         
Interest Earned 5,015             5,015             12,286             7,271             
Other 230,393         230,393         232,854           2,461             

Total Revenues 3,537,210      3,537,210      4,015,985        478,775         

Expenditures
Current:

Administrative 1,179,334      1,179,334      1,280,172        (100,838)        
Public Safety 28,032           28,032           21,919             6,113             
Building 408,380         408,380         473,710           (65,330)          
Police 1,233,195      1,233,195      1,122,488        110,707         
Parks 201,772         201,772         174,464           27,308           

Capital Outlay 441,130         441,130         118,451           322,679         
Operating Reserve 139,401         139,401         -                       139,401         

Total Expenditures 3,631,244      3,631,244      3,191,204        440,040         

Excess (Deficiency of Revenues
   Over Expenditures) (94,034)          (94,034)          824,781           38,735           

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers In 351,534         351,534         432,205           80,671           
Transfers Out (257,500)        (257,500)        (257,500)          -                     

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 94,034           94,034           174,705           80,671           

Net Change in Fund Balances -                     -                     999,486           999,486         

Fund Balances - Beginning -                     -                     2,887,222        2,887,222      
Fund Balances - Ending -$                   -$                   3,886,708$      3,886,708$    

Budgeted Amounts
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City of Middleton, Idaho
Budgetary (GAAP Basis) Comparison Schedule

Streets & Alleys Fund
For the Year Ended September 30, 2022

Budgeted Amounts
Original Final Actual Variance

Revenues
Property Taxes 1,198,584$   1,198,584$   1,258,888$   60,304$        
Intergovernmental 781,037        781,037        1,221,162     440,125        
Grants and Contributions -                    -                    -                    -                    
Charges for Services 194,817        194,817        596,592        401,775        
Interest Earned 1,000            1,000            6,322            5,322            
Other 2,500            2,500            76,399          73,899          

Total Revenues 2,177,938     2,177,938     3,159,363     981,425        

Expenditures
Current:

Streets & Alleys 1,230,700     1,230,700     732,143        498,557        
Capital Outlay 2,235,042     2,235,042     938,256        1,296,786     

Total Expenditures 3,465,742     3,465,742     1,670,399     1,795,343     

Excess (Deficiency of Revenues
   Over Expenditures) (1,287,804)    (1,287,804)    1,488,964     2,776,768     

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers In 1,387,000     1,387,000     -                    (1,387,000)    
Transfers Out (99,196)         (99,196)         (99,196)         -                    

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 1,287,804     1,287,804     (99,196)         (1,387,000)    

Net Change in Fund Balances -                    -                    1,389,768     1,389,768     

Fund Balances - Beginning -                    -                    2,563,371     2,563,371     
Fund Balances - Ending -$                  -$                  3,953,139$   3,953,139$   
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City of Middleton, Idaho
Budgetary (GAAP Basis) Comparison Schedule

Impact Fees
For the Year Ended September 30, 2022

Budgeted Amounts
Original Final Actual Variance

Revenues
Charges for Services 849,550$        849,550$        1,124,925$        275,375$        
Interest Earned -                      -                      3,050                 3,050              

Total Revenues 849,550          849,550          1,127,975          278,425          

Expenditures
Capital Outlay -                      -                      -                         -                      

Total Expenditures -                      -                      -                         -                      

Excess (Deficiency of Revenues
   Over Expenditures) 849,550          849,550          1,127,975          278,425          

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers In 87,450            87,450            -                         (87,450)           
Transfers Out (937,000)         (937,000)         (80,671)              856,329          

Total Other Financing Sources 
(Uses) (849,550)         (849,550)         (80,671)              768,879          

Net Change in Fund Balances -                      -                      1,047,304          1,047,304       

Fund Balances - Beginning -                      -                      1,998,402          1,998,402       
Fund Balances - Ending -$                    -$                    3,045,706$        3,045,706$     
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1. BUDGETS AND BUDGETARY ACCOUNTING 
 

The City follows these procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the 
financial statements: 

 
A. Prior to September 1, the Department Heads, the City Treasurer, Mayor, and City 

Council prepare a proposed operating budget for the fiscal year commencing the 
following October 1. The operating budget includes proposed expenditures and the 
means of financing them. 

 
B. Public hearings are conducted at the City Hall to obtain landowner and resident 

comments. 
 
C. Prior to October 1, the budget is legally enacted through passage of an ordinance. 
 
D. The City is authorized to transfer budgeted amounts between departments within 

any non-enterprise fund; however, no revision can be made to increase the overall 
tax supported funds except when federal or state grants are approved. The City, 
however, must follow the same budgetary procedures as they followed when the 
original budget was approved. The budget for enterprise funds may also be revised 
in the same manner as those situations involving federal and state grants. 

 
E. Formal budgetary integration is employed as a management control device during 

the year for the General fund and Special Revenue funds. 
 

 



City of Middleton, Idaho
Schedule of Required Supplemental Information
Public Employees Retirement System of Idaho

Last 10 - Fiscal Years*

Schedule of the City's Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability

Year

City proportion of 
the net pension 
liability (asset)

City's proportionate 
share of the net pension 

liability (asset)

City's 
covered 

employee 
payroll

City's proportionate 
share of the net pension 

liability (asset) as a 
percentage of its 

covered-employee 
payroll

Plan fiduciary net 
position as a 

percentage of the total 
pension liability

2022 0.0509911% 2,008,414$                        2,049,175$   98.01% 83.09%

2021 0.0051548% (40,712)$                            1,923,310$   -2.12% 100.36%

2020 0.0512603% 1,190,332$                        1,813,345$   65.64% 88.22%

2019 0.0469332% 535,729$                           1,626,417$   32.94% 93.79%

2018 0.0450131% 663,951$                           1,471,661$   45.12% 91.69%

2017 0.0410020% 644,481$                           1,354,934$   47.57% 90.68%

2016 0.0350760% 711,044$                           1,101,439$   64.56% 87.26%

2015 0.0275714% 363,070$                           821,028$      44.22% 91.38%

Data reported is measured as of June 30, 2022

Schedule of City Contributions

Year

Contractually 
Required 

Contributions

Contributions in Relation 
to the Contractually 

Required Contribution

Contribution 
Deficiency 
(Excess)

City's Covered-
Employee Payroll

Contributions as a 
Percentage of Covered- 

Employee Payroll

2022 246,807$                246,807$                           -                    2,049,175                         12.04%

2021 231,628$                231,628$                           -                    1,923,310                         12.04%

2020 218,499$                218,499$                           -                    1,813,345                         12.05%

2019 187,953$                187,953$                           -                    1,626,417                         11.56%

2018 168,169$                168,169$                           -                    1,471,661                         11.43%

2017 154,823$                154,823$                           -                    1,354,934                         11.43%

2016 125,442$                125,442$                           -                    1,101,439                         11.39%

2015 93,306$                  93,306$                             -                    821,028                            11.36%

Data reported is measured as of September 30, 2022

* GASB Statement No. 68 requires ten years of information to be presented in this table.  However, until a full 10-year trend is compiled, the 
City of Middleton, Idaho will present information for those years for which information is available.
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SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION



City of Middleton, Idaho
Supplemental Schedule of Revenues by Source -
Budget (GAAP Basis) and Actual - General Fund

For the Year Ended Sep 30, 2022

Budget Actual Variance
Taxes:

Property Taxes 1,519,814$   1,502,362$   (17,452)$       
Total Taxes 1,519,814     1,502,362     (17,452)         

Intergovernmental:
State Liquor Apportionment 98,444          124,426        25,982          
State Revenue Sharing 386,024        584,297        198,273        

Total Intergovernmental 484,468        708,723        224,255        

Grants and Contributions
Grants 34,320          -                    (34,320)         

Total Grants and Contributions 34,320          -                    (34,320)         

Charges for Services:
Beer, Wine, and Liquor Licenses 3,000            3,100            100               
Building Permits 680,400        1,245,079     564,679        
Business Permits 2,500            1,540            (960)              
Franchise Fees 44,200          61,740          17,540          
Rent 17,100          41,670          24,570          
Fines and Fees 264,000        206,631        (57,369)         
Park Impact Fees 172,500        -                    (172,500)       
Police Impact Fees 79,500          -                    (79,500)         

Total Licenses and Permits 1,263,200     1,559,760     296,560        

Other:
Reimbursements 160,393        160,913        520               
Interest Earned 5,015            12,286          7,271            
Miscellaneous Revenue 70,000          71,941          1,941            

Total Other 235,408        245,140        9,732            

Total Revenue 3,537,210$   4,015,985$   478,775$      
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City of Middleton, Idaho
Supplemental Schedule of Expenditures by Object of Expenditure -

Budget (GAAP Basis) and Actual - General Fund
For the Year Ended September 30, 2022

Budget Actual Variance
Administrative:

Salaries 400,393$       394,984$       5,409$           
Benefits 143,294         121,954         21,340           
Supplies 6,000             4,519             1,481             
Repairs and Maintenance 9,000             7,376             1,624             
Professional Fees 504,213         638,324         (134,111)        
Other Services and Charges 116,434         113,015         3,419             
Capital Outlay 237,003         80,671           156,332         

Total Administrative 1,416,337      1,360,843      55,494           

Public Safety:
Code Enforcement 13,032           7,419             5,613             
Professional Fees 15,000           14,500           500                
Capital Outlay 30,000           -                     30,000           

Total Public Safety 58,032           21,919           36,113           

Building Inspection:
Salaries 82,727           95,050           (12,323)          
Benefits 49,274           33,736           15,538           
Supplies 6,000             6,156             (156)               
Repairs and Maintenance 16,950           39,986           (23,036)          
Professional Fees 160,600         208,170         (47,570)          
Other Services and Charges 92,829           90,612           2,217             
Capital Outlay 92,427           -                     92,427           

Total Building Inspection 500,807         473,710         27,097           
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City of Middleton, Idaho
Supplemental Schedule of Expenditures by Object of Expenditure -

Budget (GAAP Basis) and Actual - General Fund (continued)
For the Year Ended September 30, 2022

Budget Actual Variance

Police:
Salaries 737,849$       705,421$       32,428$         
Benefits 305,865         221,200         84,665           
Supplies 5,500             5,835             (335)               
Repairs and Maintenance 15,200           24,943           (9,743)            
Professional Fees 1,000             -                     1,000             
Other Services and Charges 103,293         100,601         2,692             
Lease Payments 64,488           64,488           -                     
Capital Outlay 20,000           21,616           (1,616)            

Total Police 1,253,195      1,144,104      109,091         

Parks:
Salaries 52,970           51,953           1,017             
Benefits 45,211           26,481           18,730           
Supplies 4,950             2,991             1,959             
Repairs and Maintenance 24,100           25,839           (1,739)            
Professional Fees 30,747           19,910           10,837           
Other Services and Charges 43,794           47,290           (3,496)            
Capital Outlay 61,700           16,164           45,536           

Total Parks 263,472         190,628         72,844           

Operating Reserve 139,401         -                     139,401         

Total Expenditures 3,631,244$    3,191,204$    440,040$       
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FEDERAL REPORTS 



City of Middleton, Idaho
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards

For the Year Ended September 30, 2022

Assistance Flow
Listing Through

Program Title Number Number Expenditures

U.S. Department of the Treasury
Direct

Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds 21.027 1,351,061$    

State and Community Highway Safety 20.600 0260 2,726             
National Priority Safety Programs 20.616 0260 1,284             

Total Highway Safety Cluster 4,010             

National Foundation on the Arts and the Humanities
Passed Through the Idhao Commission for Libraries

State Library Program 45.310 LS-249959-OLS-21 3,000             

Total Federal Financial Assistance Expended 1,358,071$   

NOTE: The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards is prepared on
             the accrual basis of accounting.
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City of Middleton, Idaho 
Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 

For the Year Ended September 30, 2022 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
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1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION 
 

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (the Schedule) includes 
the federal grant activity of the City of Middleton, Idaho under programs of the Federal 
Government for the year ended September 30, 2022. The information in the Schedule is 
presented in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal 
Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit 
Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Because the Schedule presents 
only a selected portion of the operations of the City of Middleton, Idaho, it is not 
intended to and does not present the financial position or changes in Net Position of the 
City of Middleton, Idaho. 

 
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported using the accrual basis of 
accounting. Such expenditures are recognized following the cost principles contained in 
the Uniform Guidance, where certain types of expenditures are not allowable or are 
limited as to reimbursement. Negative amounts shown on the Schedule represent 
adjustments or credits made in the normal course of business to amounts reported as 
expenditures in prior years. 

 
3. INDIRECT COST RATE 
 

The City of Middleton, Idaho has not elected to use the 10-perecent de minims indirect 
cost rate. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial 
Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an 
Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with 

Government Auditing Standards 
 
 
 
Honorable Mayor 
and City Council 
City of Middleton, Idaho 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental 
activities, the business-type activities, the discretely presented component unit, each major fund, and the 
remaining fund information of the City of Middleton, Idaho, as of and for the year ended September 30, 
2022, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City of Middleton, 
Idaho’s basic financial statements and have issued our report thereon dated March 9, 2023. 
 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City of Middleton, 
Idaho’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Middleton, Idaho’s internal 
control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Middleton, Idaho’s 
internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management 
or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, 
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in 
internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s 
financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant 
deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a 
material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose described in the 
first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over 
financial reporting that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies.  Given these limitations, 
during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material 
weaknesses.  However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 
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Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City of Middleton, Idaho’s financial 
statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain 
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a 
direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an 
opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not 
express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters 
that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards. 
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and 
the results of that is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards 
in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for 
any other purpose. 
 
 

Zwygart John & Associates, CPAs, PLLC 
Nampa, Idaho 
March 9, 2023
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Independent Auditor�s Report on Compliance for Each  
Major Program and on Internal Control Over Compliance  

Required by Uniform Guidance 
 
Honorable Mayor 
and City Council 
City of Middleton, Idaho 
 
Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program 
 
Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 
 
We have audited the City of Middleton, Idaho’s compliance with the types of compliance requirements 
identified as subject to audit in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material 
effect on each of the City of Middleton, Idaho’s major federal programs for the year ended September 30, 
2022. The City of Middleton, Idaho’s major federal programs are identified in the summary of auditor’s 
results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. 
 
In our opinion, the City of Middleton, Idaho, complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance 
requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal 
programs for the year ended September 30, 2022. 
 
Basis for Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 
 
We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America (GAAS); the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing 
Standards); and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform 
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform 
Guidance). Our responsibilities under those standards and the Uniform Guidance are further described in 
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section of our report. 
 
We are required to be independent of the City of Middleton, Idaho and to meet our other ethical 
responsibilities, in accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on 
compliance for each major federal program. Our audit does not provide a legal determination of the City of 
Middleton, Idaho’s compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above. 
 
Responsibilities of Management for Compliance 

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the laws, statutes, 
regulations, rules and provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable to the City of Middleton, 
Idaho’s federal programs. 
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an opinion 
on the City of Middleton, Idaho’s compliance based on out audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will always detect 
material noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from 
fraud is higher than for that resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance 
requirements referred to above is considered material, if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or 
in the aggregate, it would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of the report on compliance 
about the City of Middleton, Idaho’s compliance with the requirements of each major federal program as a 
whole. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform 
Guidance, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

 Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a 
test basis, evidence regarding the City of Middleton, Idaho’s compliance with the compliance 
requirements referred to above and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary 
in the circumstances. 

 Obtain an understanding of the City of Middleton, Idaho’s internal control over compliance relevant 
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test 
and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Middleton, Idaho’s internal 
control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal 
control over compliance that we identified during the audit. 

 
Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 
 
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned 
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a 
federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, 
or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable 
possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not 
be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over 
compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type 
of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal 
control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 
 
 
 
 
 



 

48 

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify all deficiencies 
in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal 
control over compliance. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in 
internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above However, 
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance may exist that were not 
identified. 
 
Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control 
over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 
 
The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of 
the Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.  
 

Zwygart John & Associates CPAS, PLLC 
Nampa, Idaho 
March 9, 2023



Internal control over financial reporting:

Material weakness(es) identified?  yes  none reported

Reportable Condition(s) identified that are 
not considered to be a material 

 yes  none reported

Noncompliance material to financial 
statements noted?

 yes  no

Federal Awards

Internal control over major programs:

Significant deficiencies disclosed?  yes  none reported

Material weaknesses disclosed?  yes  none reported

Type of auditor's report issued on compliance for major programs: Unmodified

Material weakness(es) identified?  yes  none reported

Reportable Condition(s) identified that are  yes  none reported

Any audit findings disclosed that are 
required to be reported in accordance with 
2CFR SECTION 200.516(A)?

 yes  no

The programs tested as major programs include

Federal Assistance Listing Numbers

21.027

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between 
Type A and Type B programs: $750,000

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?  yes  no

None

City of Middleton, Idaho
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs

For the Year Ended September 30, 2022

Section I - Summary of Auditor's Results

The auditor's report expresses an unmodified opinion on the general purpose financial statements of the 
City of Middleton.

Name of Federal Program

Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds

Section II - Financial Statement Findings

None

Section III - Compliance Findings and Questioned Costs
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Cell: 208-960-2883 
Office: 208442-4470 
Fax: 844-351-6902

QUANTITY DESCRIPTION UNIT PRICE AMOUNT

CUSTOMER 1 Installation of 8"X48" CIPP repair  - (4201 to 4150) $2,500.00 $2,500.00

City of Middleton 
1 Trip Charge $100.00 $100.00

DATE
Traffic Control Sinage - Estimate - Integrity passes traffic 
control cost on to Owner at no mark up 

$250.00 $0.00

8/31/2022 $0.00

PHONE $0.00

$0.00

SALESPERSON 3
Installation of 12"X48" CIPP repair  - (4149 to 4150) 
(4151 to 4152) (4151 to 4150)

$3,000.00 $9,000.00

Richard Mason Traffic Control Sinage - Estimate - Integrity passes traffic 
control cost on to Owner at no mark up 

$250.00 $0.00

PROJECT 1 Trip Charge $100.00 $100.00

Sewer Repairs 2022
1 Intruding Tap Removal (4151 to 4150) $950.00 $950.00

PREPARED BY: 1

Installation of 12"X4" lateral repair LMK/Perma Liner 
Equivalent - Patch in the mainline and into the 4" lateral 
to seal up root intrusion. NOTE: We will need clean out 
access 

$4,000.00 $4,000.00

Richard Mason 
$0.00

ATTENTION $0.00

Terrell 
$0.00

PAYMENT TERMS $0.00

Net 30 $0.00

TOTA L $16,650.00

THIS PROPOSAL INCLUDES THE CONDITIONS NOTED:

Date

Sign Below to Accept Quote:

Authorized Rep

Thank You For You Business  

Proposal 
Integrity Inspection Solutions, Inc. 

204 S Dudley Ln Nampa, ID 83687                                                                  
integrity@iispipeline.com 

Owner must provide clear access to the upstream and downstream manholes. • 
Integrity Inspection Solutions is not responsible for any Traffic Control, Bypass 
Pumping or Permitting unless otherwise stated in the proposal portion of this 
document.

Public Works Contractors License Number 036543-C-4 















3/13/2023  9:11:50AM 

City of Middleton Water Service Repair

Boise, ID 83709

5450 W Gowen Road

Knife River Corporation - Mountain West

Triston Hylton                                  Triston.hylton@kniferiver.com

(208) 562-5079

(208) 562-5045

Contact:

Phone:

Fax:

Job Name:Quote To: Jason VanGilder
Date of Plans:City of Middleton
Addendums:

Phone:
Fax:

AMOUNTITEM DESCRIPTION QUANTITY UNIT UNIT PRICE

GENERAL CONDITIONS LS1.00         5 5,136.14 5,136.14

FIND 2" WATER LEAK LS1.00        10 1,118.81 1,118.81

FIX 2" WATER LINE LS1.00        20 1,651.66 1,651.66

INSTALL 24" STEEL CASING LS1.00        30 34,733.99 34,733.99

GRAND TOTAL $42,640.60

NOTES: 

Bid Notes:

1. Price includes (1) mobilization to job. Each additional mobilization will be invoiced at quoted price.
2. Work will be completed upon a mutually agreed schedule.
3. Pricing includes 80 LF of steel casing. 

EXCLUSIONS
1. Permits, fees or bonds of any kind.
2. Fees for inspections or testing.
3. Pavement markings or signage.
4. Surveying or staking.
5. Removal/backfill of soft or saturated soils below subgrade.
6. Erosion control or SWPPP.
7. EPA/ DEQ permit, paperwork or inspection requirements.
8. Demolition/removals not specifically quoted.
9. Traffic Control
10. Paving over grade will be by KRC approved grade.

This Proposal is expressly conditioned on all terms within and market conditions at the time of offer. All terms contained in 
this Proposal shall be incorporated into any subsequent contract or subcontract agreement between Knife River and the 
customer.  The terms in this Proposal shall survive above and beyond any conflicting language and may only be modified 
by written agreement signed by Knife River.

All work to be completed in a workmanlike manner according to the written plans and specifications provided to Knife River 
and standard industry practices.  Any alteration, change or deviation from applicable specifications of the materials or work 
subject to this proposal will only be provided upon written direction from the customer, and customer agrees to pay Knife 
River any additional costs associated with such alteration, change or deviation.
 
Knife River shall be paid for actual quantities installed and/or furnished. Payment is due upon progress billings each 30 days. 
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Retainage held shall be a maximum of 5%.  The retainage will be payable upon substantial completion of the work. All past 
due amount(s) shall bear interest at eighteen percent (18%) per annum or the highest rate allowed by law from the date of 
billing.

Unless specified in this Proposal, Knife River is not bound by a specific time for its work to commence or materials to be 
furnished to the project.  Knife River agrees to perform its work with due diligence in connection with its other work. Customer 
bears the risk of increased material costs not controlled by Knife River. Knife River will substantiate any price increase with 
supplier documentation. Customer may execute and pay for a Change Order for Materials On Hand to secure pricing as of that 
date to mitigate risk.

Knife River shall adhere to all applicable Environmental Laws and Regulations pertaining to work performed by Knife River 
under this Proposal. Knife River is not the Prime Contractor and will not provide SWPPP services beyond the scope of the 
Subcontract. As a subcontractor, Knife River will not meet the definition of an "operator" as defined by the EPA in Section 
1.1.1 and Appendix A of the 2017 Construction General Permit. Knife River will not have operational control over 
construction plans and specifications, including the ability to make modifications to those plans and specifications. 
Furthermore, Knife River will not have day-to-day operational control of those activities at a project that are necessary to 
ensure compliance with the permit conditions.

Management has not reviewed or accepted the scope of services beyond the contents of this Proposal, therefore; signatory 
authority has not been devolved to the Project Manager or Superintendent for work beyond the scope of this bid.

An assigned Project Manager or Superintendent is authorized to sign a Subcontractor Compliance Agreement wherein Knife 
River agrees to abide by the Prime Contractor or Owner's SWPPP as a function of carrying out the subcontracted work. 
However, Knife River will not accept responsibility for actions beyond the subcontracted scope of work.

Knife River shall not be responsible for any consequential damages related to the materials or services furnished under this 
Proposal.  Customer hereby waives and releases Knife River from any delays caused by events outside of Knife River's 
control, including but not limited to, actions of other contractors or subcontractors performing work on the subject project, acts 
of the owner or its agents, utility interference, unforeseen conditions, strikes, accidents, acts of God, fires, floods, epidemics, 
unusually severe weather, unavoidable casualties and unusual delays in deliveries.  Knife River's workers are fully covered by 
Worker's Compensation Insurance.  Knife River may withdraw this proposal if not accepted within 15 days from the date of 
proposal. In the event of litigation, the prevailing party shall be entitled to reasonable attorney's fees and related costs.

Knife River
Authorized Signature___________________________________________  _____________
                                                                     Date

Knife River Corporation- Mountain West is licensed and authorized to do business in the following states:
ID RCE# 46906, PWC-C-033799-U-1-2-3
WA UBI# 604239617
OR CCB# 221896
MT CCR# 241149
UT COL# 10780213-5501
NV NBI# NV20181187762
WY ID# 03702
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             STAFF REVIEW AND REPORT 
                         Middleton City Council 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

The Square on Hartley Subdivision 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

                   
                                      

A. City Council Public Hearing Date: Mach 15, 2023  
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B. Project Description: Subdivision for flex space buildings (commercial & light 
industrial) located at 0 Hwy 44 (tax parcel no., R34773014).  Project parcel is 4.47 
acres in size.  At build-out, it will contain 33 flex space lots and one common lot to 
accommodate shared parking and infrastructure facilities.   

Flex Space use is defined in the City Code section as follows:  

FLEX SPACE:  a building or buildings used for small-scale warehousing and light 
industrial activity which may be combined with office, retail, and/or other 
commercial uses.  Individual units or buildings may be used entirely for a 
commercial, retail, or office use, but any warehousing and/or light industrial use 
cannot exceed 70% of the total square footage of the building or individual unit.  
Flex Space does not include mini-warehouse storage, individual storage space for 
rent, or a use that involves a high level of truck and loading activity. 

Front and street-side elevations are enhanced with more architectural detail, 
including variations in roof form, building height, and building materials in addition 
to an increased use of glass and architectural features involving wood, faux wood, 
and/or metal.  Entries are easily identifiable with projecting or recessed forms and 
additional architectural detail.   

Loading docks and industrial roll-up/garage doors are located on only the rear and 
non-street sides of the flex space. However, glass sliding doors and architectural 
garage doors enhanced with significant amounts of glass, metal and/or faux wood 
can be located on the front elevation if they enhance the aesthetic of the front 
elevation.  

C. Application Requests:  Applications include (1) annexation and rezone to C-2 (light 
commercial), (2) Development Agreement, and (3) Preliminary Plat. 

  
D. Current Zoning, Land Use & Property Condition:  The property is currently vacant 

land in Canyon County zoned “Agricultural.”  It is contiguous to Middleton City limits. It 
is flanked by County land zoned Agricultural on the north, east and south sides.  A 
broader perspective shows zoning of R-4, M-1, and C-3 located to the east and north 
of the project. 
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On the City’s Future Land Use Map, this parcel is located in an area planned for 
commercial uses. 
 

   
 

E. City Services:  Water and sewer are already located in Hartley Lane immediately 
adjacent to the project site.  Sewer and water capacity are included in the City’s 
current capacity analyses. Capacity will not be formally reserved until the construction 
drawings are approved by City Engineer.                  

 

 
F. Pathway, Open Space & Amenities:  Open Space and amenities are not required in 

a commercial or industrial subdivision.  However, Developer will construct an eight foot 
wide paved pathway adjacent to Hartley Lane as part of the frontage improvements. 
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G. Traffic, Access & Streets:   
 
The primary access for the subdivision will be off of Hartley.  Drive aisle connections 
will be reserved on the plat to the north and west to create connectivity with future 
commercial development in the surrounding area.  
  

 
 
 

Developer will be responsible for improving ½ of the Hartley Lane roadway fronting the 
property (50’ from centerline). 
 
A traffic study was completed for the subdivision.  The Traffic Engineer declared that 
by 2025 build-out, “no additional improvements are needed to mitigate 2025 total 
traffic operations,” particularly in light of the fact that the Hartley Lane traffic signal will 
be completed this spring/summer.  (P.3).  Developer, however, will contribute 
monetarily to the mitigation of its traffic impacts by way of the Mid-Star Transportation 
Impact Program and Pro-Rata fees collected pursuant to MCC 5-4-3 and any ITD 
Conditions Memo.      
 

H. Police / Fire Protection:  The Middleton Rural Fire Department and Middleton City 
Police will serve and protect the project site. 
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I. Annexation and Rezone:  Applicants are requesting that the 4.47 acre project parcel 
be annexed into the City of Middleton with a zone change from County “Agricultural” to 
City C-2 (Light Commercial).  Flex Space is an allowed use in the C-2 Zone. 
 
There are two findings that must be made before Annexation can be approved: (1) the 
property must be contiguous to City limits and (2) City services such as sewer, water, 
police/fire and roadway system can be expanded to serve the site in an orderly, 
efficient, and economical manner. (Idaho Code 50-222.) 
 
An application for rezone requires two findings before City Council can approve the 
project: (1) the rezone will not adversely affect the City’s delivery of services and (2) 
the rezone request is not in conflict with the Comprehensive Plan. (Idaho Code 67-
6511) 
 
FINDINGS:   
 
With respect to annexation, Planning Staff finds that Applicant’s project meets the 
criteria of contiguity. Sewer and water are adjacent to the site and can be easily 
extended to serve the project. Middleton Rural Fire Department submitted comments  
requiring Developer to construct the project in compliance with the 2018 International 
Fire Code to ensure that the project does not adversely affect the City. City Police are 
already patrolling the area of the project because of the proximity to Forge 
International Charter School and the Bozic Subdivision.  As to traffic, the Traffic Study 
indicated that no improvements are triggered by the project.  
 
As to the rezone application, Planning Staff finds that the rezone will not adversely 
affect the City’s ability to deliver services as already noted above. As will be shown 
below in the section regarding the Comprehensive Plan, Staff finds that the project is 
also consistent with the goals and strategies set forth in the City’s Comp Plan. 
 

[The Annexation Ordinance has been prepared and 
will be part of the Agenda for the public hearing.]  

 
J. Preliminary Plat Application:   The preliminary plat shows 33 flex space lots and one 

common lot. The project has only one phase of development.  The flex space lots are 
designed much like a condominium plat allowing flex space units to be attached but 
also located on a single lot. This allows Developer the option of selling individual units. 
In order to have this type of design, Developer will require a waiver from MCC 5-4-1, 
Table 1 to avoid the 10’ setback on the front of each lot and the requirement that a lot 
cannot have more than 90% coverage.  Ample space and dimension are still created 
by way of the large common lot ribboning through the complex, so these waivers from 
code will not adversely affect the plat.   
 
Additionally, because of the “condominium style” design, Developer will require a 
waiver or exception to City Code requiring a utility easement on the front, side, and 
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rear of each individual lot. (MCC 5-4-10-5)  Again, the utility easements apply to large 
separate lots with lots of ground space.  They do not work on condominium style lots.   
 
FINDINGS: Other than the waiver requests mentioned above, Staff finds that the 
preliminary plat complies with all dimensional standards and requirements of the 
Middleton City Code and Idaho State Code.  
 

 
 
           [A full copy of the proposed preliminary plat is attached as Exhibit “A”.] 
                            

K. Development Agreement:  Applications for annexation/rezone are generally 
accompanied by an application for Development Agreement (“DA”). Attached as 
Exhibit “B” is the proposed Development Agreement.  The Developer has used the 
City’s DA form, and only Article III regarding conditions of development has been 
altered to add the following conditions: 
 

1. Developer will develop the project site generally consistent with the concept site 
plan attached to the DA. (Sec. 3.1) 

2. Developer will construct the buildings generally consistent with the concept 
elevation pages attached to the DA.  (Sec. 3.2)  

3. Developer shall record a cross-access easement for vehicle & pedestrian traffic, 
utility location, and shared parking. (Secs. 3.3 and 3.4) 
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4. Developer will not be required to construct a landscape buffer on the western 
boundary of the parcel due to the fact that the area to the west has been 
designated for future commercial uses on the City’s Future Land Use Map. 
(Sec. 3.5) 

5. Developers will have two years to obtain final plat approval. Developer may 
seek two 1-year extensions, thereby allowing a total of 4 years to bring the 
project to final plat approval.  Failure to meet this time-line may result in the City 
terminating the DA and nullifying the preliminary plat.  (Sec. 3.6) 

6. Developer shall provide at least two drive aisle connections to ensure 
connectivity to future commercial development.  (Sec. 3.7) 

7. Because the project parcels are similar to a condominium design, the parcels 
will not be subject to all the C-2 setbacks.  Instead, the front setback shall be a 
minimum of 0’ instead of 10’.  Also, the maximum lot coverage shall be 100% 
rather than 90%. Developer also will not be required to comply with the utility 
easements set forth in MCC 5-4-10-5 due to the condominium style of the plat. 
(Sec. 3.8 and 3.9) 

8. Developer will pay all pro-rata traffic fees (proportionate share fee) pursuant to 
MCC 5-4-3 and any Conditions Memo issued by ITD. Developer will also 
complete any road construction mitigation recommended by ITD unless the 
proposed mitigation is already in the Hartley/44 intersection construction plan 
set.  (Sec. 3.10) 

9. Developer or any subsequent Business Association shall be responsible for 
recording a stormwater facilities operation and maintenance manual (“O&M 
Manual”). The Developer/Business Assoc., shall operate and maintain the 
communal stormwater facilities in compliance with the O&M Manual. No 
building permits will be issued until City receives a copy of the recorded CC&Rs 
requiring this compliance.  (Sec. 3.11) 

          [A copy of the proposed DA is attached to this Staff Report as Exhibit “B”.] 
 

L. Comprehensive Plan & Land Use Map:  Applicant’s project complies with the 
Comprehensive Plan’s Future Land Use Map because the area where the project is 
proposed is shown as commercial on the FLUM.  In fact, the project is located in an 
area that the FLUM shows to have the highest concentration of commercial uses. 
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Developer’s project also complies with the following Goals, Objectives, and Strategies 
of the 2019 Middleton Comprehensive Plan: 
 

a. Goal 1: to be proactive in delivering city services to properties reasonably 
expected to be annexed in the future. 

b. Goal 4: Promote commercial development near State Hwy 44. The project will 
also establish a good quality of life with development that pays through impact 
fees and property taxes for the public services it receives.  

c. Goal 6: Water, sewer, and adjacent road systems have been expanded in an 
orderly manner consistent with population growth. 

d. Goal 7: Commercial and industrial development are encouraged and provide 
employment opportunities to residents so they can remain in the City for 
employment.  

e. Goal 8: A desirable area for new commercial development has been created 
without detracting from existing businesses.  
 

M. Comments Received from Surrounding Landowners:  Attached as Exhibit “C”. 
 

N. Comments from Agencies:  Comments were received from Middleton Rural Fire and 
ITD. (Attached as Exhibit “D”.) 
 

O. Comments from City Engineer and Planning Staff:   attached as Exhibit “E”. 
 

P. Application Information:  Applicants are Michael Baird and Jay Walker/Kimley Horn 
Engineering. 1100 W. Idaho Street #210, Boise ID 83706.  Application was accepted 
on 12/27/2022. 
 

Q. Notices & Neighborhood Meeting:    Dates: 
      

Newspaper Notification     2/26/2023 
 

 Radius notice to adjacent landowners   2/23/2023 
  
 Circulation to Agencies     2/22/2023  
 
 Sign Posting property     2/22/2023   

 
Neighborhood Meeting     11/29/2022 
 

R. Applicable Codes and Standards: 
  
Idaho Standards for Public Works Construction, the Middleton Supplement to the Idaho 
Standards for Public Works Construction, Middleton City Code 1-14, 1-16, 5-1, 5-2, 5-
3, and 5-4, and Idaho Code Title 67, Chapter 65 & Title 50, Chapters 2 and 13. 
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S. Planning & Zoning Recommendations:  The Planning & Zoning Commission 
considered the applications for annexation/rezone, development agreement and 
preliminary plat at a public hearing held on February 13, 2023.  The Commission 
recommended approval of all three applications subject to the conditions of approval in 
the staff report for the February hearing.  (The executed FCR cannot be attached to 
this staff report because the draft FCR will not be placed before the Commission for 
approval until March 13, 2023, which is their next appointed hearing.) 
  

T. Conclusions and Recommended Conditions of Approval: 
 
Per State law and the Middleton City Code, any final order must be based upon 
findings of facts and conclusions of law.   
 
As to Findings of Facts, Planning Staff has set forth findings of facts above in 
parentheses.   
 
As to Conclusions of Law, Planning Staff finds that the City Council has the authority 
to hear these applications and to approve or deny the applications.  Additionally, 
Planning Staff notes that all public notice requirements were met. Planning Staff 
further set forth the portions of the Idaho State Code and Middleton City Code to be 
considered in making a decision on the applications.       
 
Annexation/rezone, Preliminary Plat, and Development Agreement Applications: 
If the City Council is inclined to approve the applications, then Planning Staff 
recommends that any approval be subject to the following conditions:  
 

1. City municipal domestic water, fire flow and sanitary sewer services are to be 
extended to serve the subdivision. 

2. Developer to comply with all terms of the Development Agreement approved for 
the project and attached to this Staff Report as Exhibit “B”. 

3. Developer to install landscaping and all amenities in compliance with the 
Landscape Plan and preliminary plat submitted with the application. 

4. Developer shall create a plan for operation, maintenance and repair of 
stormwater facilities (O&M Plan) contained on the project site. The O&M Plan 
shall be recorded. Developer and/or Business Association must maintain and 
operate the subdivision stormwater facilities in compliance with the O&M Plan. 

5. Developer to construct, at its own cost, all frontage improvements on Hartley 
Lane adjacent to the project parcel and any roadway mitigation recommended 
by ITD and approved by the City other than roadway construction already 
shown in the Hartley Lane/Hwy 44 construction plan set. 

6. Prior to approval of the final plat, Owner/Developer to pay all City required pro-
rata share traffic fees (Proportionate Share Fees) as required by MCC 5-4-3 
and any Conditions Memo issued by ITD. 

7. All City Planner and Engineer review comments are to be completed and 
approved. 
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8. All requirements of the Middleton Rural Fire District are to be completed and 
approved. 

9. Sewer and water capacity to be reserved at the time City approves the 
construction drawings for the project. 

Finally, if the Council denies the applications, then the Council should state what the 
applicant could do, if anything, to obtain approval. (Middleton City Code 1-14(E)(8)). 

 

Prepared by Roberta Stewart 
Planning & Zoning Official      3/10/2023 
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EXHIBIT “A” 

PROPOSED PRELIMINARY PLAT 
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PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
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After Recording, Mail To 
Middleton City Clerk 
1103 W. Main Street 
Middleton, ID 83644 

 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
 
 This Development Agreement (“Agreement”) is entered into by and between 
the CITY OF MIDDLETON, a municipal corporation in the State of Idaho (“City”); and 
___________________________ (__________), individually and collectively referred to as 
Developer (“Developer”). 
 
 

RECITALS 
 
 WHEREAS, Developer owns approximately 4.5 acres of real property located 
at 0 Hwy 44, Middleton, Canyon County, Idaho commonly referred to in Canyon 
County Assessor’s records as Parcel No. R34773014, and legally described in Exhibit 
A attached hereto and incorporated herein (“Property”); and  
 
 WHEREAS, Developer intends to improve the Property with a commercial 
subdivision commonly known as “The Square on Hartley” (“Project”) in accordance 
with the Middleton City Code and the City’s public works standards at the time(s) the 
Property is improved; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City, pursuant to Idaho Code §67-6511A, has the authority to 
annex and rezone the Property and to enter into a development agreement for the 
purpose of allowing, by agreement, a specific development to proceed in a specific 
area and for a specific purpose or use which is appropriate in the area, but for which 
all allowed uses for the requested zoning may not be appropriate pursuant to the 
Idaho Code and Middleton City Code. 
 

AGREEMENT 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and 
sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, and in consideration of the recitals 
above, which are incorporated below, and the mutual covenants, representations, and 
performances herein bargained for, relied on, and expected, the parties agree as 
follows: 
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ARTICLE I 

LEGAL AUTHORITY 
 
 This Agreement is made pursuant to and in accordance with the provisions of 
Idaho Code §67-6511A and Middleton City Code, Title 5, Chapter 2. 
 

ARTICLE II 
ANNEXATION AND ZONING ORDINANCE  

 
 The City will adopt an ordinance to annex and rezone the Property from 
Canyon County “Agricultural” to City of Middleton C-2 (Light Commercial). The 
Ordinance will become effective after it is approved, signed, published and recorded 
according to law, all of which actions the City will perform at the city’s expense and 
with the Developer’s cooperation. 
 

ARTICLE III 
CONDITIONS OF DEVELOPMENT 

 
 3.1 Concept Site Plan:  The concept site plan attached hereto as Exhibit 
“B” is incorporated herein by this reference. Developer shall be bound to abide by 
said concept plan and shall develop the Property substantially consistent with the 
concept plan.    
 

3.2 Concept Elevations:  The concept elevations attached hereto as 
Exhibit “C” are incorporated herein by this reference. Developer shall be bound to 
abide by said concept elevations and shall construct the buildings on the Property 
substantially consistent with the concept plans. 
 
 3.3 Cross Access:  Developer shall execute and record a cross-access 
easement for vehicular and pedestrian travel and utility easement that will apply to 
all commercial lots that gain access via drive aisles or common lots. This will ensure 
public and utility access and will avoid any land-locked parcels.  Such easements must 
be shown on the final plat or created by separate instrument document. If by separate 
instrument document, proof of the recorded document shall be a condition of 
approval for final plat.  
 
 3.4 Shared Parking:  Developer shall execute and record a shared 
parking agreement .  Proof of the recorded document shall be a condition of 
approval for final plat.  
 

3.5 Landscape Buffer:  Developer shall not be required to comply with 
the landscape buffer requirements set forth in MCC 5-4-10-7 even though a 
residential homestead is west of the Property. This is due to the fact that the area to 
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the west, north and south of the Property has been designated for only commercial 
uses on the City’s Future Land Use Map.  
 

3.6 Final Plat Requirements & Termination: Notwithstanding the 
provisions in Article IV of this Agreement, Developer shall obtain City Engineer’s 
signature on the final plat within two (2) years of the preliminary plat approval for 
the Project. Said signature shall be processed expeditiously by City and in no event 
later than six (6) months from the time the Developer submits a “Completion Packet” 
with all items required by the Supplement to the ISPWC and final plat application. The 
six (6) month period will not be triggered if any information required by the 
Supplement is missing. 

3.6.1 Developer may obtain a one (1) year extension to obtain the City 
Engineer’s signature on Phase 1 final plat by submitting an administrative 
written request for extension to the Middleton Planning & Zoning Official 
before the expiration of the initial two-year period, which approval shall not 
be withheld if Developer submits its request in a timely manner. Thereafter, 
City Council may approve an additional time extension of one (1) year if 
developer submits a written request for extension prior to the expiration of 
the previous extension period. Neither approval shall require a public hearing 
before City Council. 

3.6.2 If Developer does not obtain City Engineer’s signature on the final plat 
within the time frame noted above, City may, at its sole discretion, terminate 
this Agreement after complying with the Middleton City Code provisions for 
legal notice and public hearing. The zoning for the Property shall remain C-2. 
Additionally, the preliminary plat will automatically become null and void. 
City may seek termination of the Agreement at any time after the noted time 
periods expire, and City’s delay in terminating this Agreement shall not 
constitute a waiver of its right to terminate. 

3.7 Connectivity:  Developer shall ensure that connectivity to the surrounding 
parcels is achieved via at least two  drive aisles positioned to the north, west or 
south. The drive aisles shall be depicted on the Concept Plan attached hereto as 
Exhibit “B,  and Developer agrees to cooperate and help coordinate connectivity via 
said drive aisles as adjacent parcels develop in the future.  
 
3.8 Setbacks and Dimensions:  Because the plat for the Project is similar to a 
condominium design, the building parcels will not be subject to some of the setback 
and dimension standards found in the Height, Setback and Coverage Schedule (MCC 
5-4-1, Table 2).   Specifically, the minimum front setback for the Project parcels shall 
be zero feet (0’) instead of ten feet (10’).  The maximum coverage may be one 
hundred percent (100%) rather than ninety percent (90%).   
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3.9 MCC 5-4-10-5 Lot Utility Easements.  Because of the condominium style of 
the plat, Developer is not subject to the lot utility easements contained in MCC 5-4-
10-5 so long as utility easements are sufficiently established on the common lot.  
 
3.10 Pro-Rata Traffic Fee & ITD Development Conditions.  Prior to final plat 
approval, Developer shall pay all pro-rata/proportionate share traffic fees required 
by MCC 5-4-3 and any Development Conditions Memo issued by the Idaho 
Transportation Department (“ITD”).  Additionally, Developer shall complete and 
construct any further roadway mitigation recommended by ITD, other than any 
road construction already shown in the construction plan set for the intersection of 
Hartley Lane and Hwy 44. 
 
3.11 Stormdrain Requirements/CC&Rs.  Developer and/or Subdivision 
Business Association shall be responsible for recording a stormwater facilities 
operation and maintenance manual (“O&M Manual”). The Developer/Business 
Assoc., shall operate and maintain the communal stormwater facilities in 
compliance with the O&M Manual. No building permits will be issued until City 
receives a copy of the recorded CC&Rs containing the following provision: 
 

 “Developer and/or The Square on Hartley Business Association owns the 
stormwater facilities contained in the common areas of The Square on 
Hartley Subdivision. Developer has prepared a plan for operation, 
maintenance, and repair of the stormwater facilities (“O&M Plan”).  The 
O&M Plan is attached to these CC&Rs as Exhibit “____” and incorporated 
herein by this reference.  The Developer and/or Business Association is 
responsible for operating, maintaining and repairing the stormwater 
facilities in compliance with the O&M Plan.  This provision regarding the 
O&M Plan may not be revised or removed from the CC&Rs without written 
permission from the City of Middleton.”  

 
  

ARTICLE IV 
FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH AGREEMENT 

 
 4.1 If the Developer fails to comply with any of the terms or conditions in 
this Agreement, then the portion(s) of this Agreement pertaining to the breach may 
be modified or terminated by the Middleton City Council, after complying with the 
notice and hearing requirement contained in Middleton City Code and Idaho Code.   
 

4.1.1 If after a breach, the City Council determines that the terms of 
this Agreement applicable to the breach should be modified, the term(s) of 
this Agreement shall be amended and the Developer shall comply with the 
amended terms. 
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4.1.2 Any breach waived by the City shall apply solely to the breach 
waived and shall not bar any other rights or remedies of the City or apply 
to any subsequent breach of any such or other covenants and conditions. 

 
 4.2 Upon a breach of this Agreement, any of the parties in any court of 
competent jurisdiction, by action or proceeding at law or in equity, may secure the 
specific performance of the covenants and agreements herein contained, may be 
awarded damages for failure of performance of both, or may obtain rescission, 
disconnection, and damages for repudiation or material failure of performance. 
 
 4.3 NOTICE OF FAILED PERFORMANCE.  Upon any failure of any party to 
this Agreement to perform its obligations under this Agreement, the party claiming 
such failure shall notify, in writing, the party alleged to have failed to perform of the 
alleged failure and shall demand performance.  No breach of this Agreement may be 
found to have occurred if performance has commenced to the satisfaction of the 
complaining party with thirty (30) days of the receipt of such notice. 

 
ARTICLE V 

GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 
 5.1 This Agreement contains the entire agreement of the parties respecting 
the Property and supersedes all prior discussions and written and verbal agreements 
between the parties respecting the Property. 
 
 5.2 Any amendment or addendum to this Agreement shall be in writing and 
made only after the City has complied with the notice and hearing provisions of Idaho 
Code §67-6509 and Middleton City Code Title 5, Chapter 2. 
 
 5.3 Any notice that a party may desire or is required to give to another 
party must be in writing and shall be given by personal delivery, by mailing the same 
registered or certified mail with a return receipt requested, or by Federal Express or 
other reputable overnight delivery service.  Notice shall be given to the parties at the 
following addresses or such other address and to such other persons as the parties 
may designate in writing after giving notice.  Any such notice shall be deemed given 
upon delivery if by personal delivery, upon deposit in the United States mail if sent by 
mail pursuant to the forgoing: 
    
   Middleton: City Clerk 
     City of Middleton 
     P.O. Box 487 
     Middleton, Idaho 83644 
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   Developer: ____________________ 
     ____________________ 
     ____________________ 
     _________________________ 
     _________________________ 
      
 5.4 If either party shall fail to perform under this Agreement and said 
failure is cured with the assistance of an attorney for the other party, as a part of 
curing said failure, the reasonable attorneys’ fees incurred by the other party shall be 
reimbursed to the other party upon demand.  In the event a suit or action is filed by 
either party against the other to interpret or enforce this Agreement, the non-
prevailing party to such litigation agrees to pay to the prevailing party all costs and 
expenses, including reasonable attorneys’ fees incurred therein, including the same 
with respect to an appeal. 
 
 5.5 This Agreement shall be effective after being fully executed.  This 
Agreement shall become valid and binding only upon its approval by the City Council 
and execution by the Mayor and City Clerk.  After its execution, the Agreement shall 
be recorded in the office of the County Recorded at the expense of the City. 
 
 5.6 Each commitment and restriction described in this Agreement shall be 
a burden on the Property and run with the land and shall be appurtenant to and for 
the benefit of the Property. 
 

5.6.1 This Agreement shall be binding on the City and Developer, and their 
respective heirs, administrators, executors, agents, legal representatives, 
successors and assigns.  Provided, however, that if all or any portion of the 
Property is divided, then each owner of a legal lot shall only be responsible for 
duties and obligations or breaches as to their owners’ parcels or lots. 
 
5.6.2 The new owner of the Property or any portion thereof (including, 
without limitation, any owner who acquires its interest by foreclosure, 
trustee’s sale or otherwise) shall be liable for all commitments and other 
obligations arising under this Agreement with respect only to such owner’s lot 
or parcel. 

 
 5.7 The Property that is the subject of this Agreement is located in Canyon 
County, Idaho and the terms of this Agreement shall be construed according to the 
laws of the State of Idaho in effect at this time this Agreement is executed.  Any action 
brought in connection with this Agreement shall be brought in a court of competent 
jurisdiction located in Canyon County, Idaho. 
 
 5.8 If any term, provision, commitment or restriction of this Agreement or 
the application thereof to any party or circumstance shall to any extent be held invalid 
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or unenforceable, the remainder of this instrument shall remain in full force and 
effect. 
 
 5.9 Time is of the essence for performance of each obligation in this 
Agreement. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have hereunto caused this Agreement to 
be executed, on the day and year first above written. 
 
 Dated this _____ day of _______________, 2023 and effective upon annexation and 
rezoning of the Property. 
 
 
 
CITY OF MIDDLETON    ATTEST 
 
 
 
By: _______________________________________  By: ____________________________________ 
       Steven J. Rule, Mayor          Becky Crofts, City Clerk 

 
 
 
 
 
State of IDAHO ) 
            ss. 
County of Canyon ) 
 
I, a notary public, do hereby certify that on this _________ day of _________________, 2023, 
personally appeared before me Steven J. Rule, who, being first duly sworn, declared that he 
is the Mayor of the City of Middleton, Idaho and signed it as Mayor of the City of Middleton.   
 
      ________________________________________________ 
      Notary Public 
      My Commission Expires: ___________________ 
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DEVELOPER: __________________________________________ 
 
 
By: ________________________________________    
 Its: ________________________________________      
 
 
 
 
State of Idaho  ) 
    ss. 
County of   ) 
 
I, a notary public, do hereby certify that on this ___ day of ________________, 2023, personally 
appeared before me __________________________________________________, who declared that he/she  
signed this Development Agreement in the capacity of _________________________________________ 
for ________________________________________________. 
 
            
      Notary Public 
      My Commission Expires:    
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EXHIBIT “A” 
 

Legal Description of Property 
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EXHIBIT “B” 
 

Concept Site Plan 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 





 
Development Agreement – The Square on Hartley Subdivision 
Page 11                                                                                                                    Rev. 3/9/2023 

 

 
EXHIBIT “C” 

 
 

Elevation Concepts 
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EXHIBIT “C” 

 

COMMENTS FROM PUBLIC 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



From: Pamela Patton
To: Roberta Stewart
Subject: Public Hearing on February 13
Date: Friday, February 10, 2023 5:03:37 AM

Good morning Roberta. Thank you for forwarding this for me.

This is in regards to the application to annex and rezone Parcel Number R3477301400 in
Canyon County. 
I strongly oppose this . I have been here about twenty years. It used to be peaceful.  I do not
want to look out at my pasture and see nothing but buildings and parking lots. Not to mention
the traffic,  people coming onto my property, the noise, and tons of lights on all night. The
School and Tractor Supply are bad enough. This is AG land. 
Thank you.

Sincerely, 
Pamela Patton

mailto:pnj4horses@gmail.com
mailto:rstewart@middletoncity.com
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EXHIBIT “D” 

COMMENTS FROM AGENCIES 
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EXHIBIT “E” 

COMMENTS FROM CITY ENGINEER & PLANNER 



 

Square at Hartley Subdivision – Preliminary Plat  1 

January 25, 2023 
 
TO:   Roberta Stewart, Planner  
  
FROM: Amy Woodruff, PE, Civil Dynamics PC 
 City Engineer 
 
RE:  The Square on Hartley - Preliminary Plat  
_____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Thank you for the opportunity to review the above referenced preliminary plat submittal. Every 
effort was made to identify all the review comments, some comments may overlap with 
planning comments, and additional comments may come up as the application goes forward.     
 
MCC 5-4-3: Traffic Impact Analysis.  Please submit. 
 
MCC 5-4-4.2. a.  Please add bearing and distance to section corner, quarter corner or monument 
of record. 
 
MCC 5-4-4.2. b.  Contact information for owner, subdivider, surveyor and engineer in the right 
margin title block.     
 
MCC 5-4-4.2.d.  Add date of preparation. 
 
MCC 5-4-4.2. f.  Revise topography to clearly show existing.   

1. The topography line work is so light it is not discernable.  Clearly show topo, including 
irrigation (all) and all utilities in Hartley. 

2. Add benchmark information. 
 
MCC 5-4-4.2. g.   

1. Show existing irrigation infrastructure and relocation if applicable.   Include needed 
easement area.  How does delivery continue to west?    

 
MCC 5-4-4.2. h.   

1. Show Hartley improvements in right of way clearly on the plat.   
2. Show access for parcel from Hartley.   
3. Include stormwater management for Hartley. 
4. Relocate the existing irrigation lateral out of Hartley right of way.  Show needed 

easement area required by Canyon County Water Company.  The CCWC easement can 
not overlap right of way unless City infrastructure is repaired/replaced by others if 
irrigation work is required in overlapping right of way area.    

5. How will existing irrigation be routed to west – as applicable.   
6. Remove sewer and water utility easement area shown in Hartley right of way.  

 
MCC 5-4-4.2.j.  Add existing zoning for adjacent parcels. 

 



 

Square at Hartley Subdivision – Preliminary Plat  2 

MCC 5-4-4.2 a and l.  The boundary is required to be surveyed and stamped by PLS including ties 
to corners.  It is not possible to verify the property description provided without a boundary 
shown for the parcel.   
 
 MCC 5-4-4.2. n 

1. Add a note addressing installation of fiber optic network. 
2. Streetlights are required along Hartley.   

 
MCC 5-4-4.3. a  

1. Show existing sewer in Hartley.   
2. Extend blanket utility easement to west boundary on both north and south utility 

alignments – easement only.  
3. Sewer services to center of lot. 

  
MCC 5-4-4.3. b  

4. Water required to be extended in Hartley – to and through – if not completed by 
development to the east prior.  Show and add note if needed.   

5. Double water services at lot corners where possible. 
6. Loop water to new/to be constructed main Hartley main at southeast corner for 

redundancy and stability. 
7. Please keep water at least 25ft from subsurface stormwater facilities.  Refer to IDAPA 

for details.   
 
MCC 5-4-4.3.c  

1. Stormwater.  Please submit complete stormwater management report separately.   
2. Hartley: plan to manage a 100 year/1 hour storm using retention facilities only. 
3. Stormwater facilities are owned by HOA and the provisions for maintenance laid out in 

CCRs.   
4. Note 6.  Please cite in the preliminary report the BMPs used for the subsurface facilities.  

Of specific concern is the width of the bed, the proximity to groundwater and location of 
the beds relative to property line, building foundations, irrigation lateral and utilities.     

5. In areas of very high ground water like this, the City may approve stormwater 
management where the design storm is retained and the remainder of the stormwater 
discharged at predevelopment rate. 

 
Note 3.  Identify by note or show easements to be developed.   
 
Note 6.  Address by note Idaho Code 31-3805.  Will lots be subject to assessment?   
 
Add note:  no direct lot access to Hartley.   
 
30ft joint utility easement is 30ft exclusive City of Middleton access and utility easement.  Joint 
trench or others do not co-locate. 
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February 16, 2023 
 
TO:    Roberta Stewart, Planner  
   
FROM:  Amy Woodruff, PE, Civil Dynamics PC 
  City Engineer 
 
RE:   The Square on Hartley ‐ Preliminary Plat  
_____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Thank you for the opportunity to review a second time the above referenced preliminary plat 
submittal. The bulk of the original comments were not addressed and are summarized again 
below:  Text in italics is new.   
 
The drawing provided is not to scale.  It is not possible to verify dimensions or other details.   
Every lot needs a lot number.  Add block numbers.  Consult with Compass Land Surveying 
regarding numbering.  Remove perimeter dimension on all lots. 
 
Is there a gap between the north lots and north boundary?   
 
MCC 5‐4‐4.2.d.  Add date of preparation.  Add month and year to top of drawing – under situate. 
 
MCC 5‐4‐4.2. f.  Revise topography to clearly show existing.   

1. The topography line work is so light it is not discernable.  Clearly show topo, including 
irrigation (all) and all utilities in Hartley. 

 
MCC 5‐4‐4.2. g.   

1. Show existing irrigation infrastructure and relocation if applicable.   Include needed 
easement area.  How does delivery continue to west?    

 
MCC 5‐4‐4.2. h.   

1. Show Hartley improvements in right of way clearly on the plat.  Pedestrian facilities are 
required.   

2. Show access for parcel from Hartley.  Add valley gutter to transport stormwater across 
entry or use a commercial driveway approach.   

3. Include stormwater management for Hartley. 
4. Relocate the existing irrigation lateral out of Hartley right of way.  Show needed 

easement area required by Canyon County Water Company.  The CCWC easement can 
not overlap right of way unless City infrastructure is repaired/replaced by others if 
irrigation work is required in overlapping right of way area.  The irrigation lateral is 
shown on the plat as remaining in Hartley.  Note 12 and City Code require it be relocated 
out of right of way.   

5. How will existing irrigation be routed to west – as applicable.   
 

MCC 5‐4‐4.2.j.  Add existing zoning for adjacent parcels. 
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 MCC 5‐4‐4.2. n 
1. Add a note addressing installation of fiber optic network. 
2. Streetlights are required along Hartley.  Add note:  streetlights located 2ft – 6ft from 

back of walkway.  
 
MCC 5‐4‐4.3. a  

1. Show existing sewer in Hartley.   
2. Extend blanket utility easement to west boundary on both north and south utility 

alignments – easement only.  
 

MCC 5‐4‐4.3. b  
1. Water required to be extended in Hartley – to and through – if not completed by 

development to the east prior.  Show and add note if needed.  Water is shown on plat 
as existing – it is not existing.  Show Square at Hartley connecting at end of existing and 
extending 8” water to south boundary.  You may add note “water may be in place at 
time of construction” or other but if water is not installed by Carlton, it must be installed 
by this project.   

2. Please keep water at least 25ft from subsurface stormwater facilities.  Refer to IDAPA 
for details.  Water is required to be 25ft from subsurface stormwater facilities.  No 
exception.   

3. Water cannot be developed feet from edge of easement and in close proximity to 
buildings and stormdrain facilities re: lot 27 (no block #)  

 
MCC 5‐4‐4.3.c  

1. Stormwater.  Please submit complete stormwater management report separately.  The 
“Preliminary Stormwater Calculations” are not correlated to the plat. 

2. Hartley: plan to manage a 100 year/1 hour storm using retention facilities only.  Show 
how Hartley stormwater will be managed. 

3. Stormwater facilities are owned by HOA and the provisions for maintenance laid out in 
CCRs.   

4. Note 6.  Please cite in the preliminary report the BMPs used for the subsurface facilities.  
Of specific concern is the width of the bed, the proximity to groundwater and location of 
the beds relative to property line, building foundations, irrigation lateral and utilities.  
The stormwater management as shown is not approvable.   

5. In areas of very high ground water like this, the City may approve stormwater 
management where the design storm is retained and the remainder of the stormwater 
discharged at predevelopment rate. 

 
Note 3.  Identify by note or show easements to be developed.   
 
Note 6.  Address by note Idaho Code 31‐3805.  Will lots be subject to assessment?   
 
30ft joint utility easement is 30ft exclusive City of Middleton access and utility easement.  Joint 
trench or others do not co‐locate.  Relabel accordingly. 
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February 27, 2023 
 
TO:    Roberta Stewart, Planner  
   
FROM:  Amy Woodruff, PE, Civil Dynamics PC 
  City Engineer 
 
RE:   The Square on Hartley ‐ Preliminary Plat Comments Summary 
_____________________________________________________________________________ 
Thank you for the resubmittal of the above captioned preliminary plat.   
 

1. Remove perimeter dimension on all lots. 
 

2. The gap between the north lots and north boundary either needs to be eliminated or it 
needs to be of sufficient width to function for the intended use.  The City requests 
eliminating the gap and developing an easement area that will function to provide utility 
and maintenance access to the north area of lots 1‐10.   

 
3. MCC 5‐4‐4.3. a.  Extend blanket utility easement to west boundary on both north and 

south utility alignments – easement only. Extend utility easement to west boundary as if 
the north water and sewer mains and south water and sewer mains were to be 
extended to the west boundary.   
 

4. MCC 5‐4‐4.3. b.  Square at Hartley is required to extend water in Hartley from existing 
location at Forge – to and through – if not completed by development to the east prior.  
Water is shown on plat as existing – it is not existing.  Show Square at Hartley 
connecting at end of existing and extending 8” water to south boundary.  You may add 
note “water may be in place at time of construction”. 

 
5. MCC 5‐4‐4.3.c.  The area needed for stormwater management is not sufficient as 

shown.  The volume of voids for drain rock is 40% ‐ only 40% of the basin as sized is 
stormwater storage.  Please consider developing V‐type, narrow retention areas on the 
west or south side.   

 
6. Note 3.  Identify by note or show easements to be developed.  If easements per code 

will not be established at final plat, work with Planning to secure a waiver.   
 

7. Note 6.  Address by note Idaho Code 31‐3805b.  Will lots be subject to assessment?   
 

8. 30ft joint utility easement is 30ft exclusive City of Middleton access and utility 
easement.  Joint trench or others do not co‐locate.  Move easement area so irrigation is 
not in utility easement.  The easement is too close to sewer in southeast corner area.  
Expand it toward Lot 33.   

 
9. Revise Hartley Lane x‐section.  Show stormwater management area – remove irrigation.   

 
10. Add PLS stamp.   
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The Square on Hartley – Planner Comments 

(Review of initial Preliminary Plat dated 12-12-22) 
 
 
January 5, 2023 
 

1. We will need the traffic study before we can get you to the P&Z Hearing. When will that get 
done? 

2. Remove all building/lot lines, parking stalls, trash enclosures…etc., and show only the actual 
lot lines.  The actual buildings cannot be the “lots” because you have not placed all the drive 
aisle areas into an actual lot.  (Drive aisles cannot be “private streets” because private 
streets are not allowed in Middleton.)  If you are not constructing local streets, then all 
portions of the project parcel must be contained inside an actual “lot.”. Something like this:  
 

3.  
 
You may want to consider an extra lot or two so you have the ability to do lot line adjustments 
in the event you want to change your plan in the future without going through the arduous 
amended pre-plat process.  (The concept plan you show on sheet 1 will be a good “concept 
plan” for the Development Agreement, but it is inappropriate on the pre-plat.) 

4. City will require a cross access/parking agreement or easement to ensure there are no 
landlocked parcels.  Figure out how you want to do that (e.g., CC&Rs or recorded easement 
or agreement????). City will require proof of recorded cross access/parking. 



 
 
 
 

2 
 

5. Be warned that the City will need an O&M Plan for your stormwater facilities, so you will need 
to devise a business association or other method for operating and maintaining those 
facilities.  (Landscape has the same issue, as you know.) 

6. Add a key to the first page showing boundary lines, lot lines, existing sewer, easements…etc. 
7. I will need to rely upon Amy to determine how we can ensure connective access for future 

commercial development to the west, north and/or south.  Since there are only drive aisles 
contemplated, that access may need to be creative.  

8. Reserve subdivision name with Tony Almeida at the County if you haven’t already done so. 
9. Delete note 3 regarding private streets. Private streets are not allowed. 
10. Re-word Note 4 about drainage easements. The current language applies to typical 

residential subdivision but does not work in this instance. 
11. Add a  note:  “A cross-access agreement for vehicle and pedestrian traffic and a shared 

parking agreement shall be recorded at the time of, or prior to, final plat recording. 
12. Note 9 regarding groundwater may not be accurate???  It may need to be 24’. ?? 
13. Looks like you’re missing depictions of all easements, wells, ditches…etc. 
14. Place updated date on your revised pre-plat to help us keep them in order. 

 
 
 
 
 

Roberta L. Stewart 
Middleton Planning & Zoning Director 
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The Square on Hartley – Planner Comments 

(Review of revised Preliminary Plat stamped 1/19/2023) 
 
 
January 20, 2023 
 

1. Each separate parcel (“building lot”) must have a legal description of “Lot & Block”.  So add 
“Block 1” to the plat, so every building parcel will be “Lot 1/Block 1”, “Lot 2/Block 1”…etc. 

2. Remove words “Floor Area” from each parcel/building pad.  We just want to see the square 
footage of each “Lot”.  Adding the words “floor area” can confuse the issue. 

3. Missing topo as required by MCC 5-4-4. 
4. Change Note 1 as follows:  “Building setback and dimension standards shall be in 

compliance with the applicable zoning regulations of Middleton at the time of building permit 
issuance, except for the setbacks and dimensions that have been changed by  the 
Development Agreement (Instrument # _________________, recorded in the records of 
Canyon County.” 

5. On Note 4, remove “pressurized irrigation” as a “public utility.”   
6. MCC 5-4-4 requires a statement about your proposed irrigation system and point of delivery. 

There must also be a preliminary layout for irrigation on the pre-plat.  Please add these items 
to your plat.  Irrigation may not occur via City metered water.  It must occur via pressurized 
irrigation /Ditch Co.    

7. Change Note 10 as follows:  “The Owner of the common lot will be required to manage the 
common areas, which include stormwater facilities…etc.” 

8. Change Note 14: “A cross access agreement or easement for utilities, shared parking, and 
vehicle and pedestrian traffic shall be recorded at the time of, or prior to, final plat recording.  

9. Place updated date on your revised pre-plat to help us keep them in order. 
 

 
 
 

Roberta L. Stewart 
Middleton Planning & Zoning Director 
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The Square on Hartley – Planner Comments 

(Review of revised Preliminary Plat stamped 2/7/2023) 
 
 
February 8, 2023 
 

1. Change Note 1  to take out Instrument #2020-005120. No DA has been recorded yet.  It 
should be a blank space like below.  “Building setback and dimension standards shall be in 
compliance with the applicable zoning regulations of Middleton at the time of building permit 
issuance, except for the setbacks and dimensions that have been changed by  the 
Development Agreement (Instrument # _________________, recorded in the records of 
Canyon County.” 

2. Check with Amy regarding whether you PI is sufficient. 
 

 
 
 

Roberta L. Stewart 
Middleton Planning & Zoning Director 
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ORDINANCE NO. 676 
The Square on Hartley Subdivision Annexation & Rezone – Parcel No. R34773014  

 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF MIDDLETON, CANYON COUNTY, IDAHO, ANNEXING 
TO THE CITY OF MIDDLETON, IDAHO, CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY SITUATED IN THE 
UNINCORPORATED AREA OF CANYON COUNTY, IDAHO, AND CONTIGUOUS TO THE 
CORPORATE LIMITS OF THE CITY OF MIDDLETON, IDAHO; ESTABLISHING THE 
ZONING CLASSIFICATION OF SAID REAL PROPERTY TO C-2 (LIGHT COMMERCIAL); 
DIRECTING THAT COPIES OF THIS ORDINANCE BE FILED AS PROVIDED BY LAW; 
AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
BE IT ORDAINED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

MIDDLETON, COUNTY OF CANYON, STATE OF IDAHO: 

Section 1. That the Middleton City Council, upon recommendation of the Planning 
& Zoning Commission, and following the public notice and hearing procedures set forth in 
the Local Land Use Planning Act (Idaho Code, Title 67, Chapter  65) and Middleton City Code 
Title 1, Chapter 14, approved the Annexation and Rezone of The Square on Hartley 
Subdivision (Parcel No. R34773014) at a public hearing held on March 15, 2023. 

Section 2. The following described property, commonly known as 0 Hwy 44, 
Middleton, Idaho (Tax Parcel No. R34773014), comprising approximately 4.472 acres, 
more or less, is contiguous to the City of Middleton, Idaho; the annexation enables the 
orderly development of the City; and the applicant has requested that the property 
described in Exhibit “A” should be annexed into the City of Middleton and zoned C-2 (Light 
Commercial): 

 
See legal description attached hereto as Exhibit “A” 
and made a part hereof by this reference. 

 
Section 3. That the above-described property is hereby annexed into the 

corporate limits of the City of Middleton and zoned C-2 (Light Commercial). 

Section 4. That the City Engineer and the Planning & Zoning Official of the City of 
Middleton, Idaho, are hereby instructed to so designate the same above-described 
property on the official zoning map and other area maps of the City of Middleton, Idaho 
as lying within the city limits and zoned C-2 (Light Commercial). 

Section 5. All ordinances, resolutions, orders or parts thereof in conflict herewith 
are hereby repealed, rescinded and annulled. 

Section 6. This ordinance shall be in full force and in effect from and after its 
passage, approval and publication, according to law. 
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Section 7. The Clerk of the City of Middleton, Idaho shall, within I0 days following 
the effective date of this ordinance, duly file a certified copy of this ordinance and a map 
prepared in a draftsman-like manner plainly and clearly designating the boundaries of the 
City of Middleton, including the land herein annexed, with the following officials of the 
County of Canyon, State of Idaho, to-wit: the Recorder, Auditor, Treasurer and Assessor 
and shall file simultaneously a certified copy of this ordinance with the State Tax 
Commission of the State of Idaho, all in compliance with Idaho Code§ 63-215. 

 

PASSED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MIDDLETON, IDAHO, this ___ day 
of ___________, 2023. 

 
APPROVED BY THE MAYOR OF THE CITY OF MIDDLETON, IDAHO, this ____ 
day of _________, 2023. 
 

        Attest: 
 
 
 
__________________________   ____________________________ 
Steven J. Rule      Becky Crofts 
Mayor, City of Middleton    City Clerk 

 



 

 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

Legal Description of Annexed Property 
 


































































	Square on Hartley - CC Staff Report.pdf
	The Square on Hartley Subdivision
	A. City Council Public Hearing Date: Mach 15, 2023
	B. Project Description: Subdivision for flex space buildings (commercial & light industrial) located at 0 Hwy 44 (tax parcel no., R34773014).  Project parcel is 4.47 acres in size.  At build-out, it will contain 33 flex space lots and one common lot t...
	C. Application Requests:  Applications include (1) annexation and rezone to C-2 (light commercial), (2) Development Agreement, and (3) Preliminary Plat.
	D. Current Zoning, Land Use & Property Condition:  The property is currently vacant land in Canyon County zoned “Agricultural.”  It is contiguous to Middleton City limits. It is flanked by County land zoned Agricultural on the north, east and south si...
	On the City’s Future Land Use Map, this parcel is located in an area planned for commercial uses.
	E. City Services:  Water and sewer are already located in Hartley Lane immediately adjacent to the project site.  Sewer and water capacity are included in the City’s current capacity analyses. Capacity will not be formally reserved until the construct...
	G. Traffic, Access & Streets:
	The primary access for the subdivision will be off of Hartley.  Drive aisle connections will be reserved on the plat to the north and west to create connectivity with future commercial development in the surrounding area.
	Developer will be responsible for improving ½ of the Hartley Lane roadway fronting the property (50’ from centerline).
	A traffic study was completed for the subdivision.  The Traffic Engineer declared that by 2025 build-out, “no additional improvements are needed to mitigate 2025 total traffic operations,” particularly in light of the fact that the Hartley Lane traffi...
	H. Police / Fire Protection:  The Middleton Rural Fire Department and Middleton City Police will serve and protect the project site.
	I. Annexation and Rezone:  Applicants are requesting that the 4.47 acre project parcel be annexed into the City of Middleton with a zone change from County “Agricultural” to City C-2 (Light Commercial).  Flex Space is an allowed use in the C-2 Zone.
	There are two findings that must be made before Annexation can be approved: (1) the property must be contiguous to City limits and (2) City services such as sewer, water, police/fire and roadway system can be expanded to serve the site in an orderly, ...
	An application for rezone requires two findings before City Council can approve the project: (1) the rezone will not adversely affect the City’s delivery of services and (2) the rezone request is not in conflict with the Comprehensive Plan. (Idaho Cod...
	FINDINGS:
	With respect to annexation, Planning Staff finds that Applicant’s project meets the criteria of contiguity. Sewer and water are adjacent to the site and can be easily extended to serve the project. Middleton Rural Fire Department submitted comments  r...
	As to the rezone application, Planning Staff finds that the rezone will not adversely affect the City’s ability to deliver services as already noted above. As will be shown below in the section regarding the Comprehensive Plan, Staff finds that the pr...
	[The Annexation Ordinance has been prepared and will be part of the Agenda for the public hearing.]
	J. Preliminary Plat Application:   The preliminary plat shows 33 flex space lots and one common lot. The project has only one phase of development.  The flex space lots are designed much like a condominium plat allowing flex space units to be attached...
	Additionally, because of the “condominium style” design, Developer will require a waiver or exception to City Code requiring a utility easement on the front, side, and rear of each individual lot. (MCC 5-4-10-5)  Again, the utility easements apply to ...
	FINDINGS: Other than the waiver requests mentioned above, Staff finds that the preliminary plat complies with all dimensional standards and requirements of the Middleton City Code and Idaho State Code.
	[A full copy of the proposed preliminary plat is attached as Exhibit “A”.]
	K. Development Agreement:  Applications for annexation/rezone are generally accompanied by an application for Development Agreement (“DA”). Attached as Exhibit “B” is the proposed Development Agreement.  The Developer has used the City’s DA form, and ...
	1. Developer will develop the project site generally consistent with the concept site plan attached to the DA. (Sec. 3.1)
	2. Developer will construct the buildings generally consistent with the concept elevation pages attached to the DA.  (Sec. 3.2)
	3. Developer shall record a cross-access easement for vehicle & pedestrian traffic, utility location, and shared parking. (Secs. 3.3 and 3.4)
	4. Developer will not be required to construct a landscape buffer on the western boundary of the parcel due to the fact that the area to the west has been designated for future commercial uses on the City’s Future Land Use Map. (Sec. 3.5)
	5. Developers will have two years to obtain final plat approval. Developer may seek two 1-year extensions, thereby allowing a total of 4 years to bring the project to final plat approval.  Failure to meet this time-line may result in the City terminat...
	6. Developer shall provide at least two drive aisle connections to ensure connectivity to future commercial development.  (Sec. 3.7)
	7. Because the project parcels are similar to a condominium design, the parcels will not be subject to all the C-2 setbacks.  Instead, the front setback shall be a minimum of 0’ instead of 10’.  Also, the maximum lot coverage shall be 100% rather than...
	8. Developer will pay all pro-rata traffic fees (proportionate share fee) pursuant to MCC 5-4-3 and any Conditions Memo issued by ITD. Developer will also complete any road construction mitigation recommended by ITD unless the proposed mitigation is a...
	9. Developer or any subsequent Business Association shall be responsible for recording a stormwater facilities operation and maintenance manual (“O&M Manual”). The Developer/Business Assoc., shall operate and maintain the communal stormwater facilitie...
	[A copy of the proposed DA is attached to this Staff Report as Exhibit “B”.]
	L. Comprehensive Plan & Land Use Map:  Applicant’s project complies with the Comprehensive Plan’s Future Land Use Map because the area where the project is proposed is shown as commercial on the FLUM.  In fact, the project is located in an area that t...
	Developer’s project also complies with the following Goals, Objectives, and Strategies of the 2019 Middleton Comprehensive Plan:
	a. Goal 1: to be proactive in delivering city services to properties reasonably expected to be annexed in the future.
	b. Goal 4: Promote commercial development near State Hwy 44. The project will also establish a good quality of life with development that pays through impact fees and property taxes for the public services it receives.
	c. Goal 6: Water, sewer, and adjacent road systems have been expanded in an orderly manner consistent with population growth.
	d. Goal 7: Commercial and industrial development are encouraged and provide employment opportunities to residents so they can remain in the City for employment.
	e. Goal 8: A desirable area for new commercial development has been created without detracting from existing businesses.
	M. Comments Received from Surrounding Landowners:  Attached as Exhibit “C”.
	N. Comments from Agencies:  Comments were received from Middleton Rural Fire and ITD. (Attached as Exhibit “D”.)
	O. Comments from City Engineer and Planning Staff:   attached as Exhibit “E”.
	P. Application Information:  Applicants are Michael Baird and Jay Walker/Kimley Horn Engineering. 1100 W. Idaho Street #210, Boise ID 83706.  Application was accepted on 12/27/2022.
	Q. Notices & Neighborhood Meeting:    Dates:
	Newspaper Notification     2/26/2023
	Radius notice to adjacent landowners   2/23/2023
	Circulation to Agencies     2/22/2023
	Sign Posting property     2/22/2023
	Neighborhood Meeting     11/29/2022
	R. Applicable Codes and Standards:
	Idaho Standards for Public Works Construction, the Middleton Supplement to the Idaho Standards for Public Works Construction, Middleton City Code 1-14, 1-16, 5-1, 5-2, 5-3, and 5-4, and Idaho Code Title 67, Chapter 65 & Title 50, Chapters 2 and 13.
	S. Conclusions and Recommended Conditions of Approval:
	Per State law and the Middleton City Code, any final order must be based upon findings of facts and conclusions of law.
	As to Findings of Facts, Planning Staff has set forth findings of facts above in parentheses.
	As to Conclusions of Law, Planning Staff finds that the City Council has the authority to hear these applications and to approve or deny the applications.  Additionally, Planning Staff notes that all public notice requirements were met. Planning Staff...
	Annexation/rezone, Preliminary Plat, and Development Agreement Applications: If the City Council is inclined to approve the applications, then Planning Staff recommends that any approval be subject to the following conditions:
	1. City municipal domestic water, fire flow and sanitary sewer services are to be extended to serve the subdivision.
	2. Developer to comply with all terms of the Development Agreement approved for the project and attached to this Staff Report as Exhibit “B”.
	3. Developer to install landscaping and all amenities in compliance with the Landscape Plan and preliminary plat submitted with the application.
	4. Developer shall create a plan for operation, maintenance and repair of stormwater facilities (O&M Plan) contained on the project site. The O&M Plan shall be recorded. Developer and/or Business Association must maintain and operate the subdivision s...
	5. Developer to construct, at its own cost, all frontage improvements on Hartley Lane adjacent to the project parcel and any roadway mitigation recommended by ITD and approved by the City other than roadway construction already shown in the Hartley La...
	6. Prior to approval of the final plat, Owner/Developer to pay all City required pro-rata share traffic fees (Proportionate Share Fees) as required by MCC 5-4-3 and any Conditions Memo issued by ITD.
	7. All City Planner and Engineer review comments are to be completed and approved.
	8. All requirements of the Middleton Rural Fire District are to be completed and approved.
	9. Sewer and water capacity to be reserved at the time City approves the construction drawings for the project.
	Finally, if the Council denies the applications, then the Council should state what the applicant could do, if anything, to obtain approval. (Middleton City Code 1-14(E)(8)).

	Exhibit.pdf
	The Square on Hartley Subdivision
	A. City Council Public Hearing Date: Mach 15, 2023
	B. Project Description: Subdivision for flex space buildings (commercial & light industrial) located at 0 Hwy 44 (tax parcel no., R34773014).  Project parcel is 4.47 acres in size.  At build-out, it will contain 33 flex space lots and one common lot t...
	C. Application Requests:  Applications include (1) annexation and rezone to C-2 (light commercial), (2) Development Agreement, and (3) Preliminary Plat.
	D. Current Zoning, Land Use & Property Condition:  The property is currently vacant land in Canyon County zoned “Agricultural.”  It is contiguous to Middleton City limits. It is flanked by County land zoned Agricultural on the north, east and south si...
	On the City’s Future Land Use Map, this parcel is located in an area planned for commercial uses.
	E. City Services:  Water and sewer are already located in Hartley Lane immediately adjacent to the project site.  Sewer and water capacity are included in the City’s current capacity analyses. Capacity will not be formally reserved until the construct...
	G. Traffic, Access & Streets:
	The primary access for the subdivision will be off of Hartley.  Drive aisle connections will be reserved on the plat to the north and west to create connectivity with future commercial development in the surrounding area.
	Developer will be responsible for improving ½ of the Hartley Lane roadway fronting the property (50’ from centerline).
	A traffic study was completed for the subdivision.  The Traffic Engineer declared that by 2025 build-out, “no additional improvements are needed to mitigate 2025 total traffic operations,” particularly in light of the fact that the Hartley Lane traffi...
	H. Police / Fire Protection:  The Middleton Rural Fire Department and Middleton City Police will serve and protect the project site.
	I. Annexation and Rezone:  Applicants are requesting that the 4.47 acre project parcel be annexed into the City of Middleton with a zone change from County “Agricultural” to City C-2 (Light Commercial).  Flex Space is an allowed use in the C-2 Zone.
	There are two findings that must be made before Annexation can be approved: (1) the property must be contiguous to City limits and (2) City services such as sewer, water, police/fire and roadway system can be expanded to serve the site in an orderly, ...
	An application for rezone requires two findings before City Council can approve the project: (1) the rezone will not adversely affect the City’s delivery of services and (2) the rezone request is not in conflict with the Comprehensive Plan. (Idaho Cod...
	FINDINGS:
	With respect to annexation, Planning Staff finds that Applicant’s project meets the criteria of contiguity. Sewer and water are adjacent to the site and can be easily extended to serve the project. Middleton Rural Fire Department has not submitted com...
	As to the rezone application, Planning Staff finds that the rezone will not adversely affect the City’s ability to deliver services as already noted above. As will be shown below in the section regarding the Comprehensive Plan, Staff finds that the pr...
	[The Annexation Ordinance has been prepared and will be part of the Agenda for the public hearing.]
	J. Preliminary Plat Application:   The preliminary plat shows one phase of development. The preliminary plat complies with all dimensional standards and requirements of the Middleton City Code and Idaho State Code, except for one waiver/exception requ...
	[A full copy of the proposed preliminary plat is attached as Exhibit “A”.]
	Findings:  Planning Staff finds that with the approval of the waiver request under MCC 1-15-2, Developer’s preliminary plat complies with all standards and requirements of the City and State Codes.
	K. Development Agreement:  Applications for annexation/rezone are generally accompanied by an application for Development Agreement (“DA”). Attached as Exhibit “B” is the proposed Development Agreement.  The Developer has used the City’s DA form, and ...
	1. Developer will develop the project site generally consistent with the concept site plan attached to the DA. (Sec. 3.1)
	2. Developer will construct the buildings generally consistent with the concept elevation pages attached to the DA.  (Sec. 3.2)
	3. Developer shall record a cross-access easement for vehicle & pedestrian traffic, utility location, and shared parking. (Sec. 3.3 and 3.4)
	4. Developer will not be required to construct a landscape buffer on the western boundary of the parcel due to the fact that the area to the west has been designated for future commercial uses on the City’s Future Land Use Map. (Sec. 3.5)
	5. Developers will have two years to obtain final plat approval. Developer may seek two 1-year extensions, thereby allowing a total of 4 years to bring the project to final plat approval.  Failure to meet this time-line may result in the City terminat...
	6. Developer shall provide at least two drive aisle connections to ensure connectivity to future commercial development.  (Sec. 3.7)
	7. Because the project parcels are similar to a condominium design, the parcels will not be subject to all the C-2 setbacks.  Instead, the front setback shall be a minimum of 0’ instead of 10’.  Also, the maximum lot coverage shall be 100% rather than...
	8. Developer will pay all pro-rata traffic fees (proportionate share fee) pursuant to MCC 5-4-3 and any Conditions Memo issued by ITD. Developer will also complete any road construction mitigation recommended by ITD unless the proposed mitigation is a...
	9. Developer or any subsequent Business Association shall be responsible for recording a stormwater facilities operation and maintenance manual (“O&M Manual”). The Developer/Business Assoc., shall operate and maintain the communal stormwater facilitie...
	[A full copy of the proposed Development Agreement is attached to this Staff Report as Exhibit “B”.]
	L. Comprehensive Plan & Land Use Map:  Applicant’s project complies with the Comprehensive Plan’s Future Land Use Map because the area where the project is proposed is shown as commercial on the FLUM.
	Developer’s project also complies with the following Goals, Objectives, and Strategies of the 2019 Middleton Comprehensive Plan:
	a. Goal 1: to be proactive in delivering city services to properties reasonably expected to be annexed in the future.
	b. Goal 4: Promote commercial development near State Hwy 44. The project will also establish a good quality of life with development that pays through impact fees and property taxes for the public services it receives.
	c. Goal 6: Water, sewer, and adjacent road systems have been expanded in an orderly manner consistent with population growth.
	d. Goal 7:Commercial and industrial development are encouraged and provide employment opportunities to residents so they can remain in the City for employment.
	e. Goal 8: A desirable area for new commercial development has been created without detracting from existing businesses.
	M. Comments Received from Surrounding Landowners:  Attached as Exhibit “C”.
	N. Comments from Agencies:  A comment was received from ITD. (See attached as Exhibit “D”.)
	O. Comments from City Engineer and Planning Staff:   Copies of engineering and planning staff comments are attached as Exhibit “E”.
	P. Application Information:  Applicants are Michael Baird and Jay Walker/Kimley Horn Engineering. 1100 W. Idaho Street #210, Boise ID 83706.  Application was accepted on 12/27/2022.
	Q. Notices & Neighborhood Meeting:    Dates:
	Newspaper Notification     2/26/2023
	Radius notice to adjacent landowners   2/23/2023
	Circulation to Agencies     2/22/2023
	Sign Posting property     2/22/2023
	Neighborhood Meeting     11/29/2022
	R. Applicable Codes and Standards:
	Idaho Standards for Public Works Construction, the Middleton Supplement to the Idaho Standards for Public Works Construction, Middleton City Code 1-14, 1-16, 5-1, 5-2, 5-3, and 5-4, and Idaho Code Title 67, Chapter 65 & Title 50, Chapters 2 and 13.
	S. Conclusions and Recommended Conditions of Approval:
	Per State law and the Middleton City Code, any final order must be based upon findings of facts and conclusions of law.
	As to Findings of Facts, Planning Staff has set forth findings of facts above in parentheses.
	As to Conclusions of Law, Planning Staff finds that the City Council has the authority to hear these applications and to approve or deny the applications.  Additionally, Planning Staff notes that all public notice requirements were met. Planning Staff...
	Annexation/rezone, Preliminary Plat, and Development Agreement Applications: If the City Council is inclined to approve the applications, then Planning Staff recommends that any approval be subject to the following conditions:
	1. City municipal domestic water, fire flow and sanitary sewer services are to be extended to serve the subdivision.
	2. Developer to comply with all terms of the Development Agreement approved for the project, and attached to this Staff Report as Exhibit “B”.
	3. Developer to install landscaping and all amenities in compliance with the Landscape Plan and preliminary plat submitted with the application.
	4. Developer shall create a plan for operation, maintenance and repair of stormwater facilities (O&M Plan) contained on the project site. The O&M Plan shall be recorded. Developer and/or Business Association must maintain and operate the subdivision s...
	5. Developer to construct, at its own cost, all frontage improvements on Hartley Lane adjacent to the project parcel and any roadway mitigation recommended by ITD and approved by the City other than roadway construction already shown in the Hartley La...
	6. Prior to approval of the final plat, Owner/Developer to pay all City required pro-rata share traffic fees (Proportionate Share Fees) as required by MCC 5-4-3 and any Conditions Memo issued by ITD.
	7. All City Planner and Engineer review comments are to be completed and approved.
	8. All requirements of the Middleton Rural Fire District are to be completed and approved.
	9. Sewer and water capacity to be reserved at the time City approves the construction drawings for the project.
	Finally, if the Council denies the applications, then the Council should state what the applicant could do, if anything, to obtain approval. (Middleton City Code 1-14(E)(8)).
	Prepared by Roberta Stewart         Dated: 3/6/2023 Planning & Zoning Official
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	CLEAN copy for CC hearing.pdf
	3.6 Final Plat Requirements & Termination: Notwithstanding the provisions in Article IV of this Agreement, Developer shall obtain City Engineer’s signature on the final plat within two (2) years of the preliminary plat approval for the Project. Said s...
	3.6.1 Developer may obtain a one (1) year extension to obtain the City Engineer’s signature on Phase 1 final plat by submitting an administrative written request for extension to the Middleton Planning & Zoning Official before the expiration of the in...
	3.6.2 If Developer does not obtain City Engineer’s signature on the final plat within the time frame noted above, City may, at its sole discretion, terminate this Agreement after complying with the Middleton City Code provisions for legal notice and p...

	3.10 Stormdrain Requirements/CC&Rs.  Developer and/or Subdivision Business Association shall be responsible for recording a stormwater facilities operation and maintenance manual (“O&M Manual”). The Developer/Business Association shall operate and mai...

	DA - Square at Hartley-Clean Copy.pdf
	3.6 Final Plat Requirements & Termination: Notwithstanding the provisions in Article IV of this Agreement, Developer shall obtain City Engineer’s signature on the final plat within two (2) years of the preliminary plat approval for the Project. Said s...
	3.6.1 Developer may obtain a one (1) year extension to obtain the City Engineer’s signature on Phase 1 final plat by submitting an administrative written request for extension to the Middleton Planning & Zoning Official before the expiration of the in...
	3.6.2 If Developer does not obtain City Engineer’s signature on the final plat within the time frame noted above, City may, at its sole discretion, terminate this Agreement after complying with the Middleton City Code provisions for legal notice and p...

	3.11 Stormdrain Requirements/CC&Rs.  Developer and/or Subdivision Business Association shall be responsible for recording a stormwater facilities operation and maintenance manual (“O&M Manual”). The Developer/Business Assoc., shall operate and maintai...
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	The Square on Hartley Subdivision
	A. City Council Public Hearing Date: Mach 15, 2023
	B. Project Description: Subdivision for flex space buildings (commercial & light industrial) located at 0 Hwy 44 (tax parcel no., R34773014).  Project parcel is 4.47 acres in size.  At build-out, it will contain 33 flex space lots and one common lot t...
	C. Application Requests:  Applications include (1) annexation and rezone to C-2 (light commercial), (2) Development Agreement, and (3) Preliminary Plat.
	D. Current Zoning, Land Use & Property Condition:  The property is currently vacant land in Canyon County zoned “Agricultural.”  It is contiguous to Middleton City limits. It is flanked by County land zoned Agricultural on the north, east and south si...
	On the City’s Future Land Use Map, this parcel is located in an area planned for commercial uses.
	E. City Services:  Water and sewer are already located in Hartley Lane immediately adjacent to the project site.  Sewer and water capacity are included in the City’s current capacity analyses. Capacity will not be formally reserved until the construct...
	G. Traffic, Access & Streets:
	The primary access for the subdivision will be off of Hartley.  Drive aisle connections will be reserved on the plat to the north and west to create connectivity with future commercial development in the surrounding area.
	Developer will be responsible for improving ½ of the Hartley Lane roadway fronting the property (50’ from centerline).
	A traffic study was completed for the subdivision.  The Traffic Engineer declared that by 2025 build-out, “no additional improvements are needed to mitigate 2025 total traffic operations,” particularly in light of the fact that the Hartley Lane traffi...
	H. Police / Fire Protection:  The Middleton Rural Fire Department and Middleton City Police will serve and protect the project site.
	I. Annexation and Rezone:  Applicants are requesting that the 4.47 acre project parcel be annexed into the City of Middleton with a zone change from County “Agricultural” to City C-2 (Light Commercial).  Flex Space is an allowed use in the C-2 Zone.
	There are two findings that must be made before Annexation can be approved: (1) the property must be contiguous to City limits and (2) City services such as sewer, water, police/fire and roadway system can be expanded to serve the site in an orderly, ...
	An application for rezone requires two findings before City Council can approve the project: (1) the rezone will not adversely affect the City’s delivery of services and (2) the rezone request is not in conflict with the Comprehensive Plan. (Idaho Cod...
	FINDINGS:
	With respect to annexation, Planning Staff finds that Applicant’s project meets the criteria of contiguity. Sewer and water are adjacent to the site and can be easily extended to serve the project. Middleton Rural Fire Department submitted comments  r...
	As to the rezone application, Planning Staff finds that the rezone will not adversely affect the City’s ability to deliver services as already noted above. As will be shown below in the section regarding the Comprehensive Plan, Staff finds that the pr...
	[The Annexation Ordinance has been prepared and will be part of the Agenda for the public hearing.]
	J. Preliminary Plat Application:   The preliminary plat shows 33 flex space lots and one common lot. The project has only one phase of development.  The flex space lots are designed much like a condominium plat allowing flex space units to be attached...
	Additionally, because of the “condominium style” design, Developer will require a waiver or exception to City Code requiring a utility easement on the front, side, and rear of each individual lot. (MCC 5-4-10-5)  Again, the utility easements apply to ...
	FINDINGS: Other than the waiver requests mentioned above, Staff finds that the preliminary plat complies with all dimensional standards and requirements of the Middleton City Code and Idaho State Code.
	[A full copy of the proposed preliminary plat is attached as Exhibit “A”.]
	K. Development Agreement:  Applications for annexation/rezone are generally accompanied by an application for Development Agreement (“DA”). Attached as Exhibit “B” is the proposed Development Agreement.  The Developer has used the City’s DA form, and ...
	1. Developer will develop the project site generally consistent with the concept site plan attached to the DA. (Sec. 3.1)
	2. Developer will construct the buildings generally consistent with the concept elevation pages attached to the DA.  (Sec. 3.2)
	3. Developer shall record a cross-access easement for vehicle & pedestrian traffic, utility location, and shared parking. (Secs. 3.3 and 3.4)
	4. Developer will not be required to construct a landscape buffer on the western boundary of the parcel due to the fact that the area to the west has been designated for future commercial uses on the City’s Future Land Use Map. (Sec. 3.5)
	5. Developers will have two years to obtain final plat approval. Developer may seek two 1-year extensions, thereby allowing a total of 4 years to bring the project to final plat approval.  Failure to meet this time-line may result in the City terminat...
	6. Developer shall provide at least two drive aisle connections to ensure connectivity to future commercial development.  (Sec. 3.7)
	7. Because the project parcels are similar to a condominium design, the parcels will not be subject to all the C-2 setbacks.  Instead, the front setback shall be a minimum of 0’ instead of 10’.  Also, the maximum lot coverage shall be 100% rather than...
	8. Developer will pay all pro-rata traffic fees (proportionate share fee) pursuant to MCC 5-4-3 and any Conditions Memo issued by ITD. Developer will also complete any road construction mitigation recommended by ITD unless the proposed mitigation is a...
	9. Developer or any subsequent Business Association shall be responsible for recording a stormwater facilities operation and maintenance manual (“O&M Manual”). The Developer/Business Assoc., shall operate and maintain the communal stormwater facilitie...
	[A copy of the proposed DA is attached to this Staff Report as Exhibit “B”.]
	L. Comprehensive Plan & Land Use Map:  Applicant’s project complies with the Comprehensive Plan’s Future Land Use Map because the area where the project is proposed is shown as commercial on the FLUM.  In fact, the project is located in an area that t...
	Developer’s project also complies with the following Goals, Objectives, and Strategies of the 2019 Middleton Comprehensive Plan:
	a. Goal 1: to be proactive in delivering city services to properties reasonably expected to be annexed in the future.
	b. Goal 4: Promote commercial development near State Hwy 44. The project will also establish a good quality of life with development that pays through impact fees and property taxes for the public services it receives.
	c. Goal 6: Water, sewer, and adjacent road systems have been expanded in an orderly manner consistent with population growth.
	d. Goal 7: Commercial and industrial development are encouraged and provide employment opportunities to residents so they can remain in the City for employment.
	e. Goal 8: A desirable area for new commercial development has been created without detracting from existing businesses.
	M. Comments Received from Surrounding Landowners:  Attached as Exhibit “C”.
	N. Comments from Agencies:  Comments were received from Middleton Rural Fire and ITD. (Attached as Exhibit “D”.)
	O. Comments from City Engineer and Planning Staff:   attached as Exhibit “E”.
	P. Application Information:  Applicants are Michael Baird and Jay Walker/Kimley Horn Engineering. 1100 W. Idaho Street #210, Boise ID 83706.  Application was accepted on 12/27/2022.
	Q. Notices & Neighborhood Meeting:    Dates:
	Newspaper Notification     2/26/2023
	Radius notice to adjacent landowners   2/23/2023
	Circulation to Agencies     2/22/2023
	Sign Posting property     2/22/2023
	Neighborhood Meeting     11/29/2022
	R. Applicable Codes and Standards:
	Idaho Standards for Public Works Construction, the Middleton Supplement to the Idaho Standards for Public Works Construction, Middleton City Code 1-14, 1-16, 5-1, 5-2, 5-3, and 5-4, and Idaho Code Title 67, Chapter 65 & Title 50, Chapters 2 and 13.
	S. Planning & Zoning Recommendations:  The Planning & Zoning Commission considered the applications for annexation/rezone, development agreement and preliminary plat at a public hearing held on February 13, 2023.  The Commission recommended approval o...
	T. Conclusions and Recommended Conditions of Approval:
	Per State law and the Middleton City Code, any final order must be based upon findings of facts and conclusions of law.
	As to Findings of Facts, Planning Staff has set forth findings of facts above in parentheses.
	As to Conclusions of Law, Planning Staff finds that the City Council has the authority to hear these applications and to approve or deny the applications.  Additionally, Planning Staff notes that all public notice requirements were met. Planning Staff...
	Annexation/rezone, Preliminary Plat, and Development Agreement Applications: If the City Council is inclined to approve the applications, then Planning Staff recommends that any approval be subject to the following conditions:
	1. City municipal domestic water, fire flow and sanitary sewer services are to be extended to serve the subdivision.
	2. Developer to comply with all terms of the Development Agreement approved for the project and attached to this Staff Report as Exhibit “B”.
	3. Developer to install landscaping and all amenities in compliance with the Landscape Plan and preliminary plat submitted with the application.
	4. Developer shall create a plan for operation, maintenance and repair of stormwater facilities (O&M Plan) contained on the project site. The O&M Plan shall be recorded. Developer and/or Business Association must maintain and operate the subdivision s...
	5. Developer to construct, at its own cost, all frontage improvements on Hartley Lane adjacent to the project parcel and any roadway mitigation recommended by ITD and approved by the City other than roadway construction already shown in the Hartley La...
	6. Prior to approval of the final plat, Owner/Developer to pay all City required pro-rata share traffic fees (Proportionate Share Fees) as required by MCC 5-4-3 and any Conditions Memo issued by ITD.
	7. All City Planner and Engineer review comments are to be completed and approved.
	8. All requirements of the Middleton Rural Fire District are to be completed and approved.
	9. Sewer and water capacity to be reserved at the time City approves the construction drawings for the project.
	Finally, if the Council denies the applications, then the Council should state what the applicant could do, if anything, to obtain approval. (Middleton City Code 1-14(E)(8)).
	Prepared by Roberta Stewart Planning & Zoning Official      3/10/2023
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	ORDINANCE NO. 676
	See legal description attached hereto as Exhibit “A” and made a part hereof by this reference.
	PASSED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MIDDLETON, IDAHO, this ___ day of ___________, 2023.
	APPROVED BY THE MAYOR OF THE CITY OF MIDDLETON, IDAHO, this ____ day of _________, 2023.
	Attest:
	__________________________   ____________________________
	Steven J. Rule      Becky Crofts Mayor, City of Middleton    City Clerk
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